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3’s Loval STOCKHOLDERS, EMPLOVEES, GraNNEL PARTNERS AND GUSTOMERS:

Fiscal year 2002 was another very difficult year for TAB. Despite
significant progress in the first half, three factors severely
impeded our turn-around efforts for the business during the
balance of the year: the weakness of the ecanomy, the disruption
caused by the proxy fight prior to last year's Annual Meeting, and
the distractions caused by the process of exploring the
Company’s strategic alternatives. Although we did not meet our
goal of profitability by year-end, additional cost reductions and
improvements in effectiveness throughout the Company enabled
us to achieve a substantial reduction from the losses incurred in
the previous year. TAB continues to remain financially strong with
considerable cash and no debt.

Throughout the year we focused on "doing what matters most"
for all our stakeholders. We remained committed to finding total
solutions to our customers' records management needs. We
stepped up our efforts to strengthen our relationships with our
independent dealers and suppliers. We worked hard to maintain
employee moraie and motivation in the face of the uncertainties
about the future. Finally, we put even greater focus on increasing
stockholder value.

In October 2001 the Board of Directors announced its intention to
explore strategic alternatives for maximizing short term
stockholder value. Subsequentiy, the Board asked three of its
members, Messrs. Heimbuck, Myers and Wright, to constitute a
Special Committee for this purpose. Mr. Myers served as
chairman of the Special Committee. Assisted by the Company's
financial advisor, TM Capital Corp., the Special Committee
carefully considered various alternatives and, with the agreement
of the entire Board of Directors, undertook to negotiate the sale
of the Company. The Special Committee deserves great thanks
for successfully completing a very difficult task.

In July 2002, the Company announced its prospective sale
subject to the approval of our stockholders, receipt of all
necessary regulatory approvals, the buyer entering into definitive
financing agreements and certain other conditions. The Board of
Directors’ recommendation to TAB stockholders regarding the
proposed merger with a private company is detailed in the
enclosed proxy statement. The sale is expected to close in the
fourth calendar quarter of 2002. We understand that it is the
intention of the prospective new owners of TAB to continue to
serve TAB's customers well and grow the business.

Qver the past 50 years TAB developed a rich and proud history.
Founded in 1950 by two visionary entrepreneurs, TAB became
a public company in 1969. TAB has always been committed to
providing its customers the highest quality products and
excellent service. From the Company's original focus on
products used in conjunction with tabulating machines in the
era before computers were commonly used in business, TAB
developed a broad array of products and services that enable
customers to organize, store, control, retrieve and safeguard
records critical to their business success.

TAB pioneered the use of color-coded file folder labels to
facilitate the proper filing of paper records. With the addition of
bar codes to the label and the use of tracking software, TAB
facilitates its customers' ability to locate file folders containing
important records as they are moved among users within a
business. TAB's modern file storage systems are used in
thousands of file rooms in the United States, Canada, Europe
and Australia. Based on records management expertise
developed over many years, TAB personnel provide consulting
and file conversion services to companies needing to update
their recards management systems.

None of this would have been possible without the dedicated
work of TAB's employees and channel partners. We want to
take this opportunity to express our sincerest thanks to all who
have devoted their energy and creativity to making TAB a leading
and respected company in the records management industry.
The people in our production facilities in Wisconsin, Texas,
California and Ontario, Canada, have a fine history of high
quality workmanship. TAB's direct sales force and independent
distributors have combined product knowledge with a unique
understanding of our customers' records management needs
to deliver complete custom solutions to them. TAB's
management and administrative staffs have also handled their
responsibilities with dedication and integrity. Finally, we are
most grateful to our valued customers who have continued to
demonstrate their confidence in TAB as their preferred partner
in addressing their records management needs.

We are confident that TAB will continue to create value for all
those associated with it, now and in the future. We offer our good
wishes to everyone for continued personal and career success.

(ﬁ/\;\\;}pulski ( Hans Wolf W

President and CEQ Chairman of the Board
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

'(Malrlk One)

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2002

or

[1  Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 for the transition period from to

Commission File Number 1-7736

TAB PRODUCTS CQ.

(Exact name of Company as specified in its charter)

Delaware 94-1190862
(State or other jurisdiction (IRS Employer Identification No.)
of incorporation or organization)

935 Lakeview Parkway, Suite 195
Vernon Hills, Illinois 60061
(Address of principal executive offices)

(847) 968-5400
(Company’s telephone number including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Exchange on Which Registered
Common stock, $.01 par value American Stock Exchange
Preferred Stock Purchase Rights, $.01 par value American Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Neone

Indicate by check mark whether the Company (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Company was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Company’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Company as of June 30, 2002 was
approximately $9,460,028. Shares of common stock held by each officer and director and by each person or group who
owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons or groups may be deemed
to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes. The
number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding as of June 30, 2002 was 5,123,915.




PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

AR A A AR

General

Tab Products Co. (the “Company” or “TAB”) operates in a single industry that manufactures and
markets document management solutions, including services and products. The Company sells its
= offerings to, among other entities, government, insurance, finance and healthcare organizations. The
i Company was incorporated in February 1954, and subsequently reorganized as a corporation under ,
= Delaware law in September 1986. =
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3 As of July 29, 2002, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement with T Acquisition Co. and :
Lo T Acquisition L.P, affiliates of HS Morgan Limited Partnership, pursuant to which T Acquisition Co. -
i% will merge with and into the Company. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, each share of the —
- Company’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive $5.85 per share in cash, or total -

j consideration of approximately $34 million, including outstanding stock options. The merger is expected

=] to close in the fourth calendar quarter of 2002. Consummation of the transaction is subject to the

} approval of the Company’s stockholders, receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals, the buyer

= entering into definitive financing agreements and certain other conditions. The Merger Agreement was
- filed on July 29, 2002 as an exhibit to a Current Report on Form 8-K.

;—; Business Strategy

: Over its 50-year history, the Company has developed considerable expertise and a strong brand in

. the records management segment of the broader document management industry. The Company offers

T a value proposition to its market that is based on helping customers minimize the risk and cost

e involved in managing their mission critical documents. The business strategy is to provide significant

j expertise in the records management market, while offering services and products that provide

e complete solutions. The Company markets to its customers through multiple channels of distribution to
R achieve broad market coverage for all sized accounts, in the U.S., Canada, Europe and Australia. The

|
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Company has manufacturing facilities in the U.S. and Canada. Approximately 76% of the Company’s
revenue comes from the U.S. operation and 24% comes from the international businesses.

Principal Products And Services

The Company provides complete solutions that enable its customers to better organize, control and
access their critical documents. By leveraging its 50 years of expertise in managing paper records and
files, the Company can also effectively support those clients who wish to integrate their paper-based
systems into emerging technologies.

R

The Company’s principal products and services include:
1) Filing Systems and Supplies
2) Document Management Software
3) Multimedia Storage & Furniture

4) Professional Consulting Services

5) Imaging Services
6) OEM Products




1. TFiling Systems and Supplies

The Company provides a complete selection of customizable records management related filing
supplies, tailored to fit clients’ specific needs, each of which can be used alone or integrated with other
TAB products, systems and services. These products include:

» Rapid Response Color Coding, providing large customers with multiple locations a simple and
cost effective color-coding solution providing daily generation of factory attached color-coded
labels from the client’s electronically submitted data

o CompuColor® customized labels based on electronic submission of client data

° FilePak, a cost-effective folder-labeling solution when a high degree of customization is not
required

> MaxPak, a factory applied self adhesive color-coding process offering exceptional economy where
the features and benefits of a strip label are not required

o TABQUIK® labels for day-forward generation of color-coded labeling on location at the client’s
place of business

o End-tab folders for lateral filing systems

° Top-tab folders for conventional pull drawer cabinets or hanging files in desk drawers and
pedestals

* Two-tab folders for use in both lateral or conventional cabinets and drawers
e Roll labels

o Classification folders «

o Expansion pockets

° Filing system guides

o X-ray jackets

° Small document pockets

° Pressure-sensitive pockets and fasteners

o QOversized pockets with flap document dividers and indexes

° Mylar-reinforced folders

° Customized special purpose folders

2. Document Management Software

The Company’s technology-based automated tracking solutions are designed to provide clients full
control of all their paper-based records, from the time those records are created through the time they
are destroyed. These products include:

o FileTracker®—A barcode-based software system that provides users with information regarding
all current location of files. The integrated system consists of FileTracker® software, barcode
labels and barcode readers.

All FileTracker® software systems include on-site consultation, customization and training from
an experienced document management specialist. A fully staffed support organization is available
through a toll-free number to provide expert advice on all FileTracker® issues.




o TABQUIK® Computerized Color Labeling System—Automated labeling software and a patented
application system that provides easy, on-site production and application of custom-printed color
labels and bar-coding for folders or other media. TABQUIK® is a customizable filing solution
available in a Windows environment, appropriate for organizations of all sizes, from the small
office to the large corporation.

b E b

3. Multimedia Storage & Furniture

The Company provides both stationary and mobile records storage systems. Mobile shelving
systems, combined with expertise in design and implementation, provide an efficient system for filing —
and use of storage space.

Mobile Products include:

o SIDE-TRAC®—A high-density, custom storage solution with cabinets arranged in two compact
rows. The front cabinets glide from side to side on wheels, creating access to the cabinets in
back.

° TAB-TRAC®, POWER-TRAC®, POWER-TRAC IR—High-density, custom storage solutions that
place any shelving on tracks to create aisles only where and when they are needed. This
eliminates the need for fixed aisles and yields up to 100% greater storage capacity. Based on the
client’s needs, stored materials are moved either manually or mechanically with TAB-TRAC® or
electrically with POWER-TRAC®. POWER-TRAC IR provides enhanced user safety through the
use of infrared technology.

: | H
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o UniStor®—A cost effective “capsule concept” filing solution designed for the storage of letter
and legal size files. -

L

Stationary Products include:

o Spacefinder® Cabinets—Slim, durable and mobile-ready cabinets, appropriate for use when floor
space, strength and economy are the key determinants.

o Harmony Cabinets—A complete line of durable, maximum-capacity, pre-configured cabinets that
blend into any office environment and can be color-coordinated with other TAB equipment and
furniture.

° Designer Series Cabinets—A high-quality, fully customizable cabinet solution that can accept any
combination of components, thus offering flexibility and potential for growth. Designer cabinets
are also mobile-ready, making it possible to increase storage density.

° TwinFile®—A compact, modular, rotating filing unit that provides more linear filing inches per
square foot than almost any other filing system.

; : I
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o Unit Spacefinder®—A filing system using TAB’s “capsule concept,” whereby the identification of :
records is in plain view from any position. Unit Spacefinder® requires very little floor space and f,
allows multiple users to access files simultaneously. ‘
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o Office Furniture—The Company markets a line of modular office furniture components, called
eNcompass and eVantage that may be put together in a limitless number of productive
configurations. They include office panel systems and clustered work centers with related
components. This product line is directed at the established market for the open office
environment.

E
3
E
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4. Professional Consulting Services

The Company’s professional services organization provides a broad range of integrated service and
support programs to fit the specific needs of its clients. These services are offered through the
Company’s own technical personnel and through its direct management of specialized service providers.

Services include:

o Consulting Services—Using a thorough needs-assessment analysis, the Company’s consultants
work closely with clients to standardize their file structures, retention schedules and workflow
processes by analyzing, designing and implementing an efficient records-classification and
data-storage system. This increases the clients’ productivity and provides significant space
savings. The Company’s consulting services also help clients design a strategy for implementing
imaging systems in their organizations.

o File-Conversion Services—The Company provides full planning and implementation of the
process by which clients transform their documents from one medium to another, such as
changing from top-tab vertical drawers to side-tab color-code, or from paper to optical-image
format. This change is designed to produce a system that is more appropriate for the client’s
current needs, thus providing a greater degree of efficiency in both storing and locating critical
records and documents.

5. Imaging Services

The Company’s Imaging Services operation has in-house or on-site capabilities and technology to
provide imaging conversion services. Imaging conversions involve the use of integrated technology with
an emphasis on the critical documents within the files, a higher level of indexing and access of
documents at the desktop. In addition to handling all phases of integration into the chosen technology,
it may also be necessary to archive the original documents into a traditional hard copy system.

Electronic Document Management Software—The Company provides the LibertyNet family of
software products through a value-added reseller agreement. The Company offers consulting and
integration services in addition to the sale of this software, which automates the capture, management
and retrieval of electronic records.

6. OEM Products
Forms Handling Equipment—The Company manufactures a line of forms handling equipment, .
including continuous forms bursters, decollators, mergers, conveyors and sealers.

Competition

Primary competitive factors in these markets are product quality, product design, service, delivery
and price. The Company believes that its products’ quality, high level of service and systems approach
to its products and services give it a strong competitive position.

Although no single competitor offers all the same products and services as the Company, there is
substantial competition for each of the Company’s product lines from nationwide and regional firms.

Marketing and Sales

The Company’s products are marketed in the United States, Canada, Europe and Australia
through its sales branches, independent sales offices and distributors (“Channel Partners”), and
telesales groups. The Company utilizes these multiple distribution channels to achieve broad market
coverage for small, mid- and large-sized customers. The Company also uses inbound and outbound
telesales in addition to catalogs to reach its customer base. The benefits provided by the direct sales
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organization are its national coverage, sales control and low variable costs. The benefits of the
independent dealers are their speed to market and low fixed cost.

The Company recently expanded its telesales organization to reach customers that cannot be
cost-effectively served by the Company’s direct sales force or Channel Partners. The benefits of this
channel include low fixed and variable costs and the ability to service remote or widely distributed
customers.

The Company is developing the Internet as an additional channel. This will include expanding web
site capabilities to offer its user base a larger range of online ordering and service opportunities.

The Company has three foreign subsidiaries, which market their products and services in Canada,
Australia and Europe, while foreign sales in the remainder of the world are conducted through a
Foreign Sales Corporation.

Customers

The Company focuses on customers that have a high volume of paper-based documents where
access to those documents is critical to their business operations. The Company’s primary customers
include government agencies, healthcare, insurance, financial services and industrial companies. The
Company’s largest customer is the U.S. Government (including its agencies and GSA subcontractors).
No single customer accounted for greater than 10% of consolidated revenues in fiscal 2002, 2061 or
2000. One customer accounted for approximately 10% of the outstanding accounts receivable balance
as of May 31, 2002. No single customer accounted for greater than 10% of the outstanding accounts
receivable balance as of May 31, 2001.

Backlog

The backlog of orders has historically not been a significant factor in understanding the business of
the Company because the order-to-revenue cycle was typically completed within 30 to 60 days from
receipt of an order. In recent periods, however, the orders obtained by the Company have included a
higher percentage of larger projects with a longer order-to-revenue cycle. Revenue from product sales
is generally recognized upon product shipment, except in the case of mobile filing products. Revenue
related to mobile filing equipment requiring installation is recognized upon completion of such
installation. Professional service projects, some of which include product sales, tend to have a longer
order-to-revenue cycle and are typically larger revenue orders. Revenue for professional service
projects, including product, is recognized upon completion of the project. The Company’s working
capital needs have increased as a result of the longer order-to-revenue cycle. The Company is
continuously attempting to achieve a more favorable mix of orders of varying sizes and types. There
can be no assurance that these efforts will be successful.

Imtellectual Property

The Company holds several patents and trademarks in the United States, Canada, Europe and
Australia. The Company does not consider any of its patents to be material to its business.

The Company relies on a combination of patents, trademarks, copyright and trade secret laws,
confidentiality procedures and licensing arrangements to protect its intellectual property rights. The
Company has been notified in the past and the Company may be notified in the future of claims that it
may be infringing upon patents or other intellectual property rights owned by third parties. There can
be no assurance that in the future any patents held by the Company will not be invalidated, that
patents will be issued for any of the Company’s pending applications or that any claims allowed from
existing or pending patents will be of sufficient scope or strength or be issued in the primary countries
where the Company’s products can be sold to provide meaningful protection or any commercial




advantage to the Company. Additionally, competitors of the Company may be able to design around
the Company’s patents.

Manufacturing

Products are manufactured through the use of in-house production facilities in Mayville and
Lomira, Wisconsin, Turlock, California, North York, Ontario, Canada and contractor production
facilities. The Company purchases both raw materials and semi-finished products for use in its
manufacturing process. The majority of raw materials and semi-finished products are purchased
domestically and are considered to be widely available.

Subsequent to May 31, 2002, the Company sold the Lomira, Wisconsin facility. The transaction
closed on August 16, 2002. Concurrent with the sale, the manufacturing operations that were
performed at the Lomira facility were relocated to the Mayville facility.

There can be no assurance that the Company’s manufacturing facilities will achieve or maintain
acceptable manufacturing volumes in the future. The inability of the Company to achieve planned
volumes from its manufacturing facilities could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. Any problems experienced by the Company in its current
or future transitions to new processes and products could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company purchases several critical components from single or sole source vendors for which
alternative sources are not currently developed. Development of alternative suppliers would require a
significant amount of time to qualify in the case of certain of the Company’s components. The
Company does not maintain long-term supply agreements with any of these vendors. The inability to
develop alternative sources for these single or sole source components or to obtain sufficient quantities
of these components could result in delays or reductions in product shipments, which could adversely
affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Research and Development

The Company’s research and development activities are primarily related to the development of
new products and services in the document management area and the improvement of existing products
in the mobile storage, high-speed mailing, forms handling equipment and furniture areas. Expenditures
for research and development were $0.5 million, $0.7 million and $0.9 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

Employees
At May 31, 2002, the Company employed approximately 720 full-time employees. None of the
Company’s employees is represented by a collective bargaining unit.

Executive Officers

At July 31, 2002 the following individuals were executive officers of the Company:

Name ég;e Title
Gary W Ampulski .............. .. .. ... 56  President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Ampulski has served as President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2001.

Mr. Ampulski has served as a director of the Company since December 2000. Previously, he was
President of Moore North America Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of business forms and
services, from March 2000 to December 2000. He was President of Moore’s Business
Communication Services Division from January 1993 to March 2000.
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Name Age Title

DonaldJ. Hotz. .. ....... ... .. ... .... 45  Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer

Mr. Hotz has served as Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since July 2001 and
was Vice President, Finance from April 2001 to July 2001. Previously, he was employed by Moore
North America Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of business forms and services, in the following
capacities: Vice President, Finance—Canada from February 2000 to March 2001, Vice President—
Enterprise Information Systems Finance from August 1997 to January 2000, Director of
Administration & Comptroller—Business Solutions Direct from 1996 to 1997 and Controller—
Pressure Sensitive Systems Division from 1993 to 1996.

William Beattie ....................... 51 Vice President, International

Mr. Beattie became Vice President, International, in May 2001. He is also President and General
Manager of Tab Products of Canada, Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Tab Products Co. since
December 1998. Mr. Beattie served as Interim President and Interim Chief Operating Officer from
July 2000 to December 2000. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Beattie was President of Gemplus
Canada, a manufacturer of smart-card technology, from February 1996 to November 1998,

Mr. Beattie was President of NBS Card Services, a provider of magnetic-stripe, plastic card-based
solutions, from August 1993 to December 1995.

Michael J.Nogle ...................... 51 Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Mr. Nogle has served as Vice President and Chief Information Officer since March 2001. —
Previously, he was employed by Moore North America Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of -
business forms and services, as Vice President, Enterprise Information Services from September :
2000 to March 2001, Director, Information Systems with Moore’s Business Communication

Services Division from June 1997 to September 2000 and Manager, Computer Services with Quill

Corp., a distributor of office supplies, from March 1994 to March 1997.

Ann E Herring . .......... ... ... ... 45  Vice President, Marketing

Ms. Herring was appointed Vice President, Marketing of the Company in December 2001.
Previously, she was Vice President, Marketing and Business Development for Moore North
America Inc., Business Communication Services Division, a manufacturer and distributor of
business forms and services, from June 1997 to November 2001 and General Manager, Eastman
Kodak Company, Kodak Imaging Services, a manufacturer and distributor of imaging products and
services, from January 1993 to June 1997.

Thomas J. Rauscher . ................... 47  Vice President, Manufacturing and Distribution

Mr. Rauscher became Vice President, Manufacturing and Distribution in January 1996. Previously,
he was Vice President, Operations at Fisher Hamilton, a distributor of laboratory supply items,
from October 1980 to January 1996.

Carter M. Perez, . .. ...... i . 37 Vice President, U.S. Sales

Mr. Perez was appointed Vice President, U.S. Sales for the Company in December 2000 and was
asked to focus more exclusively on the Company’s Channel Partner organization beginning in
November 2001. Previously, he was Director, Channel Partner Sales from January 1999 to
December 2000. He was Sales Operations Manager—Western Entity with Xerox Corporation, a
manufacturer and distributor of office equipment and supplies, from June 1997 to December 1998
and Systems Sales Manager with Xerox Corporation from June 1996 to May 1997.




Name Age Title

Robert J.Crecca ........ ..., 45  Chief Accounting Officer, Corporate
Controller & Asst. Secretary

Mr. Crecca has served as Chief Accounting Officer and Controller since March 2001. He added
the title of Assistant Secretary in July 2001. Previously, he served in the positions of Director,
Operations Analysis & Strategic Planning from August 1996 to March 2001, and Manager,
Financial Operations with Moore North America Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of business
forms and services, from January 1991 to August 1996.

Caroline A. Damask . . .................. 39  Assistant Treasurer and Secretary

Ms. Damask has served as Assistant Treasurer and Secretary since July 2001 and previously served
as Cash Manager from April 2001 to July 2001. She served as Manager, Benefits & HR
Accounting with Outboard Marine Corporation, a manufacturer of marine engines and boats, from
February 2000 to March 2001. She was employed at Scotsman Industries, Inc., a manufacturer of
commercial refrigeration equipment, as Corporate Accounting Manager from April 1997 to
January 2000 and Manager, General Accounting & Benefits from April 1995 to March 1997.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company’s corporate headquarters are located at 935 Lakeview Parkway, Suite 195, Vernon
Hills, Illinois. The company leases approximately 9,000 square feet of a one-story building. The lease
will expire in April 2004.

The Company owns a 356,000 square foot building located on 14 acres of land in Mayville,
Wisconsin. The Mayville facility serves as a central warehousing, manufacturing and distribution center.
Approximately 200,000 square feet of the facility are used as warehouse space. Approximately 60,000
square feet of the facility are used for the production of paper products (primarily file folders) and the
attachment of color-coded labeling systems. Approximately 60,000 square feet are used for the
production of panel systems furniture. The Company also owns 16 acres of undeveloped land near the
Mayville facility.

Prior to August 16, 2002, the Company owned a 45,000 square foot building located on 4 acres of
land in Lomira, Wisconsin. The facility was used for the manufacture of TAB-TRAC® mobile filing
storage units and other light manufacturing and assembly operations. The Company sold the Lomira
facility on August 16, 2002. Concurrent with the sale, the manufacturing operations that were
performed at the Lomira facility were relocated to the Mayville facility.

The Company owns a manufacturing building located on 4.8 acres of land in Turlock, California.
The building is 67,000 square feet and is used for the manufacture of the Company’s high-speed
mailing systems product line and forms handling equipment.

The Company leases 31,000 square feet of production space in San Antonio, Texas, which expires
April 2005.

The Company leases office space for its sales branches in numerous cities throughout the United
States, Canada, Europe and Australia, most of which are in major metropolitan areas. Tab Products of
Canada, Limited leases 58,000 square feet of manufacturing and office space in a building in North
York, Ontario, Canada, and such lease expires in May 2005. Tab Products (Europa) B.V. leases a 9,000
square foot building in Amsterdam, Netherlands, and such lease expires in August 2006. Tab Products
Pty Ltd leases a 16,000 square foot building in Gladesville NSW, Australia, and such lease expires in
May 2006. These buildings serve as general office, sales and warehouse facilities.
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In management’s opinion, all buildings, machinery and equipment are in good condition and are
maintained and repaired on a basis consistent with sound operations. The properties and equipment
are deemed adequate and suitable for their purposes.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is not currently involved in any material legal proceeding. —

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

The Company did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of
the fiscal year ended May 31, 2002.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMPANY’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The Company’s stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange and its trading symbol is TBP.
Information with respect to per share common stock dividends paid by the Company and the price
ranges per share for each quarter during the fiscal years ended May 31, 2002 and 2001 are set forth
below.

PER SHARE COMMON STOCK DIVIDENDS AND PRICE RANGES ‘

DIVIDENDS PRICE RANGE PER SHARE
2002 2001 2002 2001
HIGH LOW HIGH LOW

Fiscal Quarter Ended

August 31 . ... e —  $05 $463 $3.60 $4.88 $2.75
November 30 . ... . —  $.05 $448 $350 $438 $2.19
February 28. . ..., ... .. — — $450 $4.01 $3.85 $1.94
MY 31 o oo e oo —  — $600 $3.75 $4.34 $3.35

At May 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 600 holders of record and approximately 3,000
beneficial owners of Tab Products Co. common stock. On March 27, 2001, the Board of Directors
discontinued the cash dividend for quarters ending February 28, 2001 and later.

10




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
TAB PRODUCTS CQ.
CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA, FIVE YEARS ENDED MAY 31
(IN THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AND RATIO DATA)

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Revenues............................ $103,947 $118,522 $130,568 $155,620 $165,943
Operating (loss) earnings . ............... (5,414)  (19,271) (11,708) 926 5,229
Gain on sale of business unit ............. — — 13,794 — —
Gain on sale of property. ................ — 1,119 12,919 — —
(Loss) earnings before income taxes ........ (5,281) (18,3606) 14,846 592 4,590
Net (loss) earnings . . . .. ..., (3,390) (12,084) 8,574 162 2,435
Net (loss) earnings per share

Basic ..o (0.66) (2.34) 1.67 0.03 0.48

Diluted ........ ... .. ... (0.66) (2.34) 1.67 0.03 0.46
Book value pershare . .................. 6.66 7.78 10.12 8.58 8.69
Dividends pershare . ................... — 0.10 0.20 0.20 0.20
Current assets . ........c.vviiininean.. 37,353 46,762 51,258 51,354 53,778
Working capital . .............. . ... ... 23,310 26,379 32,224 26,962 31,785
Net cash flows from operating activities . . . . . . 3,732 (2,916) (13,264) 7,776 7,673
Purchase of property, plant and equipment . . . 1,110 1,536 2,865 5,052 4,927
Depreciation and amortization ............ 2,724 9,170 4,006 4,802 7,018
Long-term debt, non-current . . . ........... _ — — 3,953 7,391
Stockholders’ equity . ... ......... ... 34,103 40,503 52,680 43,128 44,897
Total @ssets . ... ..ot 50,149 62,157 73,293 75,328 77,488
Current ratio . .. ........... . 2.7 23 2.7 2.1 24
(Loss) return, net of income taxes, before gain

on sale of business unit and property, on

EQUITY .o e (9% 27N % (14)% 0% 5%

(Loss) returnonequity. . .. .............. 9% (26)% 18 % 0% 5%

11
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This report, including without limitation the following section regarding Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, regarding the Company and its business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. Words such as “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,”
“forecasts,” “potential,” “continue,” “anticipates,” “i ” “plans,” “projections,” “believes,”

b AN 1]

intends,
“seeks,” “foreseeable,” “break-even,” “estimates,” and similar expressions or variations of such words
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Additionally, statements concerning future matters
such as the development of new products, enhancements or technologies, possible changes in legislation
and other statements regarding matters that are not historical are forward-looking statements.

Although forward-looking statements in this report reflect the good faith judgment of the
Company’s management, such statements can only be based on facts and factors currently known by
the Company. Consequently, forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and
uncertainties and actual results and outcomes may differ materially from the results and outcomes
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences
in results and outcomes include without limitation those discussed in “Business Environment and Risk
Factors” as well as those discussed elsewhere in this report. Readers are urged not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report. Readers
are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by the Company in this report, =
which attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect the Company’s —
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The Company is not under any
obligation (and expressly disclaims any such obligation) to update or alter its forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

The following discussion of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations should be
read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company.

Fimancial Condition

At May 31, 2002, the Company had cash and short-term investments of $11.1 million, an increase
of $2.3 million from the $8.8 million at May 31, 2001. The Company’s working capital position at
May 31, 2002 was $23.3 million as compared with $26.4 million at May 31, 2001. The current ratio of
2.7 at May 31, 2002 was higher than the current ratio of 2.3 reported for May 31, 2001. The increase in
cash is primarily due to the receipt of a $4.5 million income tax refund, a reduction in trade receivables
of $7.9 million (as a result of lower volume and a reduction in Days Sales Outstanding), and a
reduction of inventories of $0.4 million. This was partially offset by the net loss of $3.4 million and a
reduction of accounts payable, compensation payable and other accrued liabilities of $3.6 million,
$0.6 million and $1.5 million, respectively. In addition, the Company purchased $1.1 million in property,
plant and equipment during the year and made repurchases of common stock for $0.5 million. The
decrease in working capital is primarily the result of the above-mentioned decrease in accounts
receivable and inventory.

At May 31, 2002, the Company’s pension plan assets were $0.7 million lower than its benefit
obligations and, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, a non-cash charge of $2.9 million, after reflecting a $1.8 million deferred tax benefit, was
taken against stockholders’ equity resulting in the reversal of the deferred pension asset. The deferred
pension asset was recorded in prior years as the result of contributions made in excess of the net
periodic pension cost. The reduction of the deferred peasion asset did not have an impact on earnings
or cash in fiscal 2002.
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During fiscal 2002, net cash provided by operating activities was $3.7 million, versus net cash used
in operations of $2.9 million in fiscal 2001, an increase in cash from operations of $6.6 million year
over year.

During fiscal 2002, the Company invested approximately $1.1 million in property, plant and
equipment, which primarily represented investments in manufacturing production equipment, web order
entry and management information systems, imaging production equipment and furniture and fixtures.
Capital expenditures for fiscal 2003, which will consist primarily of investments in manufacturing
equipment, a new paint line to be installed at the Mayville, Wisconsin facility due to the sale of the .-
Lomira, Wisconsin facility and management information systems, are expected to be approximately
$1.5 million.

No debt payments were due or made in fiscal 2002 or 2001. At May 31, 2002 and 2001, the
Company had no outstanding debt. In the second quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company renewed a
$5 million secured line of credit with a bank. The line of credit contains covenants related to cash flow
and tangible net worth that the Company must maintain. The Company was in compliance with all
covenants at May 31, 2002. The Company does not anticipate the need to utilize the line of credit prior
to its expiration on October 31, 2002, and will evaluate whether to renew it in the second quarter of
fiscal 2003.

The Company and its subsidiaries are obligated under leases for real and personal property
expiring at various dates through 2007. The future minimum rental payments under these lease
agreements at May 31, 2002 are $2.8 million, $2.2 million, $1.3 million, $0.5 million and $26,000 for
fiscal 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively.

In fiscal 2000, pursuant to the Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Assets (the “Agreement”), by
and between the Company and Bell & Howell Document Management Products Company, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Bell & Howell Company (“Bell & Howell”), the Company sold its Field Services
Group to Bell & Howell. The Company’s Field Service Group consisted of assets that include existing
service contracts and certain related tangible and intangible assets and certain liabilities. The price of
the Purchased Assets, as defined in the Agreement, consisted of an initial cash payment from Bell &
Howell to the Company of $11.2 million, the assumption of liabilities and obligations of the Company
valued at an estimated $4.3 million and up to an additional $3.5 million payable to the Company
subject to certain adjustments for changes in certain accounts attributable to the Field Service Group.
The sale was effective as of June 1, 1999. In connection with the sale the Company recorded a pre-tax
gain on sale of $13.8 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2000.

Cn June 22, 1999, the Company announced the consolidation of its paper manufacturing
operations to its main plant located in Mayville, Wisconsin. The Company closed its paper
manufacturing facility located in Turlock, California and transferred the inventory and equipment to
Mayville. As a result of the consolidation, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of approximately
$0.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2000.

On February 23, 2000, the Company sold its corporate headquarters buildings and the associated
land leases at Stanford Research Park to Eagle Ridge Partners, a real estate investment group. The
gross sales price was $18 million and resulted in a pre-tax gain of $12.9 million for the Company.

On May 25, 2000, the Company purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Docucon for
approximately $5.1 million that was a combination of cash and assumed liabilities. The purchase price
was subject to certain post-closing adjustments payable to the Company in the approximate amount of
$0.2 million that were agreed to as of August 10, 2000. The Docucon purchase gave the Company the
capacity to convert customers’ documents to digital format for desktop access. On May 31, 2001, the
Company wrote-off the remaining goodwill from the acquisition of $3.7 million due to its impairment.
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The Company did not pay any cash dividends on its common stock in fiscal 2002. In fiscal 2001,
the Company paid cash dividends of $0.5 million. On March 27, 2001, the Company’s Board of
Directors discontinued the dividend on the common stock of the Company.

On February 16, 2001, the Company completed the sale of unutilized property and a
manufacturing facility located in Turlock, California, for $2.9 million. In connection with the sale, the
Company recorded a pre-tax gain on sale of $1.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2001.

In September 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 10% of
the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock from time to time at prevailing
market prices. During fiscal 2002, the Company repurchased 112,500 shares of its common stock for
$0.5 million between September 2001 and January 2002. The Company did not repurchase any shares
after January 17, 2002. The stock repurchase program will expire on September 16, 2002.

On March 9, 2002, President Bush signed into law H.R. 3090, the “Job Creation and Worker
Assistance Act of 2002.” The Act allows for additional federal depreciation expense for specific asset
acquisitions purchased by the Company after September 10, 2001. Additionally, the Act increases the
carryback period of federal net operating losses generated in tax years ending in 2001 and 2002 from
two years to five years. The Company previously filed a claim to carryback the losses generated in the
fiscal year ended May 31, 2001 to the two previous tax years and received a refund of $4.5 million
during fiscal 2002. As a result of the Act, the Company has elected to amend the originally filed claim
to carryback the losses generated in fiscal 2001 to the five previous tax years. The Company has also
elected to carryback the losses generated in the fiscal year ended May 31, 2002 to the five previous
years. The refund from both carryback claims is reported in the income tax receivable balance.

The Company believes that its current cash, future cash flows and potential borrowing capacity will
provide sufficient working capital for at least the next twelve months.

Results Of Operations

Revenues—Total revenues for fiscal 2002 of $103.9 million were $14.6 million or 12.3% lower than
the $118.5 million in fiscal 2001. Of the $14.6 million decrease in revenues, $9.9 million was due to a
decline in U.S. sales of manufactured mobile and equipment products, professional services and
supplies. This decline was due to reduced volume and longer customer decision lead times largely as a
result of the economic downturn that impacted the Company in the latter part of fiscal 2002 and the
uncertainty regarding the future ownership of the Company. In addition, the Company experienced
revenue declines in Canada of $2.8 million as a result of cutbacks by customers in technology spending
and world economic events. Europe and Australia revenues declined $1.2 million and $0.6 million,
respectively. Revenues in fiscal 2001 of $118.5 million were $12.1 million or 9.3% lower than the
$130.6 million in fiscal 2000. Of the $12.1 million decrease in fiscal 2001 revenues, $17.3 million was
due to a decline in U.S. sales of manufactured furniture and equipment products, professional services
and technology products. This decline was partially offset by $2.8 million in sales of the Company’s
imaging subsidiary that was acquired in May 2000, increased sales of manufactured supplies of
$1.1 million and increased sales from the Company’s international operations of $1.3 million.
International revenues were 24%, 25% and 22% of consolidated revenues in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Cost of Revenues—Cost of revenues, as a percentage of revenues, for fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000
were 62.2%, 62.8% and 61.7%, respectively. The improvement in the percentage in fiscal 2002, despite
the revenue decline, for fiscal 2002 as compared to fiscal 2001 was due primarily to a price increase
implemented early in fiscal 2002 on manufactured equipment and supplies and cost reduction programs
implemented throughout the year. The Company also saw improvements in product mix toward higher
margin products such as supplies. In addition, there were significant improvements in the cost structure
of the Company’s imaging services operation which went from a negative 23.6% gross margin to a
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negative 1.5% gross margin due to cost reductions. The increase in the percentage in fiscal 2001 from
fiscal 2000 was due primarily to a decrease in manufacturing efficiencies due to lower than planned
volume.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense—Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a
percentage of revenues, for fiscal 2002, 2001 and 20060 were 43.0%, 53.5% and 47.2%, respectively.
Total operating expenses for fiscal 2002 were $44.7 million, a decrease of $18.6 million as compared to
total operating expenses of $63.4 million in fiscal 2001. The decrease in operating expenses was
primarily attributable to lower salaries, wages and benefits due to lower headcount, lower costs
associated with the relocation of the corporate headquarters in the prior year and lower amortization
costs due to the write-off in the prior year of the goodwill associated with the imaging services
operation. The improvement was also due to the avoidance of the prior year costs mentioned in the
following paragraph.

Operating expenses for fiscal 2001 of $63.4 million represented an increase of $1.7 million as
compared to total operating expenses of $61.7 million in fiscal 2000. The increase in operating expenses
was primarily attributable to a write-off of the $3.7 million of goodwill for the Company’s imaging
services operation, establishment of a $0.4 million reserve for closing of branch offices, $2.2 million of
costs associated with the corporate headquarters relocation, and a $1.4 million payment related to the
retirement of the former CEO. These increases were partially offset by lower salaries and lower
commissions on the reduced revenues.

Gain on Sale—Gain on sale of property in fiscal 2001 was $1.1 million as compared to
$12.9 million in fiscal 2000. On February 16, 2001 the Company completed the sale of unutilized
property and a manufacturing facility for a gross sales price of $2.9 million. On February 23, 2000, the
Company sold its corporate headquarters buildings and the associated land leases for a gross sales price
of $18 million. In fiscal 2000, the Company also reported a gain on sale of $13.8 million related to the
sale of its Field Services Group for a gross sales price of $19 million.

Interest and Other, net—Interest and other, net was $0.1 million income for fiscal 2002 and
$0.2 million expense for both fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2000. Gross interest income was $0.3 million,
$0.5 million and $1.0 million for fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in interest
income was primarily due to lower interest rates on the Company’s cash balances. Interest expense was
$0.5 million for fiscal 2000. The remaining expense for each fiscal year included foreign currency
transaction and exchange gains and losses and other miscellaneous expenses.

Income Taxes—Income tax benefit, as a percentage of pre-tax loss, for fiscal 2002 was 35.8%, an
improvement of 0.2 percentage points as compared to the effective tax rate of 36.0% in fiscal 2001. For
fiscal 2000, income tax expense was an effective tax rate of 42.2%. The change in the effective tax rate
was primarily due a limitation on loss carrybacks by certain states.

Recemntly Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities”, as amended by SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities—Deferral of the Effective Date of SFAS No. 133,” and SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for
Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” This statement requires companies to
record derivatives on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities, measured at fair value. Gains or losses
resulting from changes in the values of those derivatives would be accounted for depending on the use
of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133
on June 1, 2001. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”, which provides guidance
related to revenue recognition based on interpretations and practices followed by the SEC and was
effective the first fiscal quarter of fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1999. SAB No. 101
requires companies to report any changes in revenue recognition as a cumulative change in accounting
principle at the time of implementation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) ,
Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes.” Subsequently, SAB Nos. 101A and 101B were issued to delay -
the implementation of SAB No. 101. i

After evaluation of the Company’s revenue recognition policies compared to the guidance in SAB ?
No. 101, the Company changed its accounting policy for revenue from mobile file storage equipment. s
Adoption of the change in accounting in fiscal 2001 resulted in revenue being recorded only after
installation of the equipment on customer premises rather than upon shipment, thus postponing
revenue recognition by an average of two months. The cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle was $330,000.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, which eliminates the .
pooling of interests method of accounting for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 -
and addresses the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets acquired [
in a business combination. The Company adopted SFAS No. 141 for business combinations initiated
after June 30, 2001.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” which
addresses the initial recognition and measurement of intangible assets acquired outside of a business
combination and the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition.
SFAS No. 142 provides that intangible assets with finite useful lives be amortized and that goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives will not be amortized, but will rather be tested at least annually
for impairment. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 142 on June 1, 2002. Upon adoption of SFAS
No. 142, the Company will stop the amortization of goodwill that resulted from business combinations
initiated prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 141. The Company evaluated goodwill under the SFAS
No. 142 transitional impairment test and has determined that there will not be an impairment loss.

The Company will adopt SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” effective June 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting
for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,”
and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of
Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” for the disposal of a segment of a business (as
previously defined in that Opinion). Although the Company has not completed its assessment, it does
not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 144 to have a material effect on the consolidated financial
position or results of operations of the Company.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities”. SFAS No. 146 requires the Company to recognize costs associated with exit or
disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or
disposal plan. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 146 for exit or disposal activities initiated after .
December 31, 2002. 5

Critical Accounting Policies

Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as of the dates




and for the periods presented. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Such estimates include
the allowance for doubtful accounts, restructuring reserves, inventory reserves, and recoverability of
deferred tax assets.

o The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on a review of the
collectibility of its accounts receivable. Management determines the adequacy of this
allowance by analyzing historical bad debts, continually evaluating individual customer
receivables and considering the customer’s financial condition and current economic
conditions. If the financial condition of a customer were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances could be required. The
accounts receivable balance as of May 31, 2002 was $15.7 million net of allowance for
doubtful accounts of $0.9 million. The Company believes that the reported allowances at
May 31, 2002 are adequate.

o The Company records restructuring charges incurred in connection with consolidation or
relocation of operations or shutdowns of specific sites. These restructuring charges, which
reflect the commitment to a termination or exit plan that will begin within twelve months,
are based on estimates of the expected costs associated with severance, site closure, contract
terminations or other costs directly related to the restructuring. If the actual cost incurred
exceeds the estimated cost, an additional charge to earnings will result. If the actual cost is
less than the estimated cost, a credit to earnings will be recognized.

o The Company establishes inventory reserves when conditions exist that suggest inventory
may be in excess of anticipated demand or is obsolete based upon assumptions of future
demand for products and market conditions. The Company regularly evaluates the ability to
realize the value of inventory based upon a combination of factors including the following;
historical usage rates, forecasted sales or usage and estimated current and future market
values. When recorded, reserves are intended to reduce the carrying value of inventory to
its net realizable value. As of May 31, 2002, the Company’s inventory of $4.7 million is
stated net of inventory reserves of $1.5 million. If actual demand for products deteriorates
or market conditions are less favorable then projected, additional inventory reserves may be
required. The Company believes that the reported reserves at May 31, 2002 are adequate.

o The Company records deferred income tax assets on the balance sheet related to events
that impact financial statements and tax returns in different periods. The Company
evaluates the recoverability of recorded deferred tax assets by considering future cash flows
and the applicability of tax laws, tax jurisdictions and certain other assumptions. The
Company has determined that a valuation allowance of $0.1 million at May 31, 2002 is
appropriate at the present time and is evaluated on a quarterly basis. If the Company is to
realize the deferred tax assets in an amount in excess of reported net amounts, an
adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase earnings in the period such
determination was made. Similarly, if the Company determined that it is unable to realize
the net deferred tax assets to the extent reported, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets
would be charged to income in the period such determination was made.

Revenue Recognition—Revenues on product sales are recognized upon product shipment when risk
of loss and title transfer, except mobile filing equipment. Revenue related to mobile filing equipment
requiring installation is recognized upon completion of such installation. Revenue related to
professional services is recognized upon completion of such services. Imaging services revenues are
recognized on a percentage of completion method. Equipment service and software support contract
revenues are recognized ratably over the contractual period or as the services are performed.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs—In September 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued
EITF 00-10, Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs (“EITF 00-10”). EITF 00-10
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requires shipping and handling fees billed to customers to be classified as revenue and the classification
of shipping and handling costs to be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements if
they are not classified as cost of sales. The Company includes shipping and handling fees billed to
customers in revenues, net of the related shipping and handling costs. Shipping and handling costs
included as a reduction to revenues totaled $4.7 million, $5.4 million and $6.8 million for fiscal 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

Business Environment and Risk Factors

The Company’s future operating results may be affected by various trends and factors, which we
must successfully manage in order to achieve favorable operating results. In addition, there are trends
and factors beyond our control, which affect our operations. Such trends and factors include, but are
not limited to, possible adverse changes in general economic conditions or conditions in the specific
markets for our products, governmental regulation, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, force
majeure, and other factors, including, but not limited to, those listed below.

Failure to manage expenses in alignment with revenues could adversely impact our results of operations
and financial condition. 'We incurred significant costs in fiscal 2001 to restructure our expense levels in
line with expected revenues and implemented additional cost reduction programs in fiscal 2002. If the
restructuring does not prove to be sufficient or if we fail to take additional actions that may become
necessary to align future expenses with future revenue levels, our results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely impacted.

The continued effects of the general state of the world economy could adversely impact our results of
operations and financial condition. The downturn in world economic conditions could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Our experience indicates that our
industry lags general business trends. Therefore, the timing of a recovery for the Company is also
uncertain,

An accelerated move to digital technology by our customers could weaken demand for our products
and services. Although the use of paper by business has continued to increase, the use of digital
records by large document-intensive industries may accelerate. This could weaken the demand for our
paper-based supplies and storage products. If we fail to respond with new digital products and services
to such a potential market change, our revenues, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects could be adversely affected.

The impact of the recent terrorist attacks in the United States may have both short-term and long-term
adverse effects on our revenues, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. While it is likely
that the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 have had an immediate impact on our business as a
result of business disruption generally, including transportation disruption, deferral of customer
purchasing decisions and supply chain disruption, the long-term effects are not known at this time.

We may not be able to achieve higher market penetration for sales of large document management
solution projects. Although from fiscal 2001 onward we have focused our selling efforts on obtaining a
balanced mix of orders of varying sizes and types, large projects may be important to achieving revenue
growth. While the Company does not know of a single large competitor with the capability to handle
these large projects, if we fail to achieve significant market penetration for such projects, revenue
growth may be limited and our results of operations may be adversely impacted.

If we cannot attract or retain key qualified personnel, our business, results of operations and financial
condition may be adversely impacted. Qur future performance depends in significant part upon
attracting and retaining key management, sales, manufacturing, marketing and technical support
personnel. The inability to attract, assimilate or retain highly qualified personnel in the future on a
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timely basis could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The ongoing strategic alternatives evaluation process could have a material adverse impact on our
business, results of operations and financial condition. In October 2001, the Company announced that it
would explore strategic alternatives for maximizing stockholder value. As of July 29, 2002, the Company
entered into a definitive Merger Agreement with T Acquisition Co. and T Acquisition L.P, affiliates of
HS Morgan Limited Partnership pursuant to which T Acquisition Co. will merge with and into the
Company. This activity and announcement could cause uncertainty with our employees including
management, sales and other personnel. It may also have a negative impact on our customers and
suppliers. The impact of these uncertainties could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Failure to consummate the proposed merger with T Acquisition Co. could have a material adverse
impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The Company could incur certain
financial penalties for noncompliance with the various terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement
that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operating results may fluctuate from period to period. TFactors affecting our operating results
and gross margins include the volume of product sales, competitive pricing pressures, the ability to
match supply with demand, changes in product and customer mix, changes in the channels through
which our products and services are distributed, timing of new product announcements and
introductions by us and our competitors, fluctuations in product costs, variations in manufacturing cycle
times, fluctuations in manufacturing utilization, our ability to achieve manufacturing volumes with our
new and existing products, exchange rate fluctuations, a change in our effective tax rate and changes in
general economic conditions. All of these factors are difficult to forecast and these or other factors can
materially affect our quarterly or annual operating results.

Our liquidity could be adversely impacted by unexpected events. Although we believe that we have
sufficient cash on hand and expected cash from operations to satisfy our working capital needs for at
least the next twelve months, any significant unexpected cash requirements could adversely impact our
liquidity. In those circumstances, we would be required to seek third party financing and we cannot be
certain that financing will be available on acceptable terms or at all. Factors affecting our cash flows
include net losses, the timely collection of accounts receivable from customers, the willingness of
suppliers to extend normal credit terms, the purchase and sale of assets and the willingness of financial
institutions to lend to us. Although our projections of these factors indicate that our operational cash
tlows, together with our existing cash and cash equivalent balances and our borrowing capacity will
adequately finance anticipated operations and capital expenditures for at least the next twelve months,
investors are cautioned that such projections inherently involve risks and uncertainties.

Failure to compete effectively could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations.
Competition may increase in the future from existing competitors, new competitors and/or from other
companies offering products and services that may be less costly or provide additional features. Unless
we respond effectively, such competition could result in lost sales and lower operating results.

Failure to obtain sufficient quantities of critical components could adversely impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations. 'We purchase several critical components from single or
sole source vendors for which alternative sources are not currently in place. We do not maintain
long-term supply agreements with any of these vendors. Development of alternative supply sources
would require a significant amount of time to qualify in the case of certain of our components.  The
inability to develop alternative sources for these single or sole source components or to obtain
sufficient quantities of these components could result in delays or reductions in product shipments,
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Failure to achieve planned manufacturing volumes could adversely impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance that our manufacturing facilities will
achieve or maintain acceptable manufacturing volumes in the future. The inability to achieve planned
volumes from our manufacturing facilities could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Any problems experienced by us in our current or future transitions
to new processes and products or the consolidation of manufacturing operations could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Sales to the U.S. Government may result in fluctuations due to their budget constraints and new
initiatives. (Government revenues primarily expose us to risks from reductions in budget allocations to
support regulation and administrative offices. The government may periodically undertake initiatives
that create opportunities to help agencies streamline workflow processes, reduce paperwork and
increase customer service, which may provide short-term opportunities for us. However, the long-term
effect of a government initiative to streamline processes could eventually have a negative impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Unfavorable intellectual property developments could adversely impact our business and results of
operations. We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, copyright and trade secret laws,
confidentiality procedures and licensing arrangements to protect our intellectual property rights. We
have been notified in the past and may be notified in the future of claims that they may be infringing
upon patents or other intellectual property rights owned by third parties. There can be no assurance
that in the future any patents held by us will not be invalidated, that patents will be issued for any of
our pending applications or that any claims allowed from existing or pending patents will be of
sufficient scope or strength or be issued in the primary countries where our products can be sold to
provide meaningful protection or any commercial advantage to us. Additionally, our competitors may
be able to design around our patents.

A negative impact to our international operations could adversely impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations. International sales accounted for approximately 24% and 25%,
respectively, of our consolidated total revenues in fiscal 2002 and 2001. Fluctuations in currencies
negatively impacted us in fiscal 2001 and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations in the future. Because sales of our products have been denominated to date
primarily in United States dollars, increases in the value of the United States dollar could increase the
price of our products so that they become relatively more expensive to customers in the local currency
of a particular country, leading to a reduction in sales and profitability in that country. We are subject
to the risks of conducting business internationally, including foreign government regulation and general
geopolitical risks such as political and economic instability, potential hostilities and changes in
diplomatic and trade relationships. Manufacturing and sales of our products may also be materially
adversely affected by factors such as unexpected changes in, or imposition of, regulatory requirements,
tariffs, import and export restrictions and other barriers and restrictions, longer payment cycles, greater
difficulty in accounts receivable collection, potentially adverse tax consequences, the burdens of
complying with a variety of foreign laws and other factors beyond our control. In addition, the laws of
certain foreign countries in which our products are or may be developed, manufactured or sold, may
not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States and
thus make piracy of our products a more likely possibility. There can be no assurance that these factors
will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 7 A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company is exposed to financial market risk related to fluctuations in interest rates and in
foreign currency exchange rates.
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The Company’s exposure to market risk due to fluctuations in interest rates relates primarily to its
short-term investment portfolio, which consists of corporate debt securities, which are classified as
available-for-sale and wete reported at an aggregate fair value of $2.3 million as of May 31, 2002.
These available-for-sale securities are subject to interest rate risk inasmuch as their fair value will fall,
if market interest rates increase. If market interest rates were to increase immediately and uniformly by
10% from the levels prevailing at May 31, 2002, the fair value of the portfolio would not decline by a
material amount. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risks
inherent in these securities. However, the Company does attempt to reduce such risks by typically
limiting the maturity date of such securities to no more than nine months, placing its investments with
high credit quality issuers and limiting the amount of credit exposure with any one issuer. In addition,
the Company believes that it currently has the ability to hold these investments until maturity, and
therefore, believes that reductions in the value of such securities attributable to short-term fluctuations
in interest rates would not materially affect the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of
the Company.

The Company’s exposure to market risk due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
relates primarily to the intercompany receivable balance with its Netherlands subsidiary. Such
intercompany receivable balance at May 31, 2002 was $0.2 million; therefore, a hypothetical 10%
adverse change in Euro against U.S. dollars would not result in a material foreign exchange loss.
Although the Company transacts business with various foreign countries, settlement amounts are
usually based on local currency. Transaction gains or losses have not been significant in the past and
there is no hedging activity on Euro or other currencies. Consequently, the Company does not expect
that reductions in the value of such intercompany receivable balances or of other accounts
denominated in foreign currencies resulting from even a sudden or significant fluctuation in foreign
exchange rates, would have a direct material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In January 1999, certain member countries of the European Union established permanent, fixed
conversion rates between their existing currencies and the European Union’s common currency (the
Euro). The transition period for conversion to the Euro was January 1, 1999 through January 1, 2002,
at which time all legal tender within the participating member countries converted to the Euro. The
timing of phasing out all uses of existing currencies will comply with the legal requirements and alsoc be
scheduled to facilitate optimal coordination with the plans of our vendors, distributors and customers.
Work related to the introduction of the Euro and the phasing out of the other currencies includes
converting information technology systems; recalculating currency risk; and taking action, if needed,
regarding continuity of contracts; and modifying our processes for preparing tax, accounting, payroll
and customer records. The introduction of the Euro and the phasing out of the other currencies did
not have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Notwithstanding the foregoing analysis of the direct effects of interest rate and foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations on the value of certain of the Company’s investments and accounts, the
indirect effects of such fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. For example, international demand for the Company’s
products could be affected by foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, interest rate fluctuations
may affect the buying patterns of the Company’s customers. Furthermore, interest rate and currency
exchange rate fluctuatioris have broad influence on the general condition of the U.S., foreign and
global economies; which could materially and adversely affect the Company.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The Company’s financial statements included with this Form 10-K are set forth under Item 14.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

PART III |
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Directors. The Company’s Board of Directors consists of seven (7) directors. The directors are
serving terms that would have expired at the 2002 Annual Stockholders Meeting to be held for fiscal
2002 and are expected to serve as directors until consummation of the proposed merger of the
Company. Information with respect to their age and background is set forth below.

Name Position With the Company Age Director Since
Gary W. Ampulski ........... Director, President and Chief Executive Officer 56 2000
Kathryn S. Hanson........... Director 52 1996
Jeffrey A. Heimbuck ......... Director 56 2000
Warren G. Lichtenstein ....... Director 37 2001
Jerry K. Myers .. ............ Director 61 1996
Hans A. Wolf. . ............. Chairman of the Board 74 1992
David W. Wright . ........... Director 44 2001

Gary W. Ampuiski. Mr. Ampulski was appointed a Director of the Company effective
December 14, 2000, and President and Chief Executive Cfficer effective January 1, 2001. Prior to
joining the company, he was President of Moore North America, Inc. from March 2000 to
December 2000 and President of Moore’s Business Communication Services Division from
January 1993 to March 2000.

Kathryn S. Hanson. Ms. Hanson has been a director of the Company since April 1996. Since 1988,
Ms. Hanson has served in various executive roles, including her present position as Director of Fletcher
Spaght, a strategic and marketing consuliting practice for high technology companies. Ms. Hanson
founded and served as the Chief Executive Officer of eMentoring, an Internet elearning company,
from October 1998 to March 2000, when eMentoring was purchased by Pensare, an Internet eLearning
company. From March 2000 to March 2001, Ms. Hanson also served as Vice President of Marketing of
Pensare. From February 1997 to September 1998, she served as Chairman, Vice President of Marketing
and co-Founder of SatMetrix (previously named CustomerCast, Inc.), an internet customer satisfaction
company. She has also served in executive roles at Convergent Technology from 1985 to 1988 and
Hewlett Packard Company from 1982 to 1985.

Jeffrey A. Heimbuck. Mr. Heimbuck has been a director of the Company since May 2000. Since
1996, Mr. Heimbuck has invested in early stage companies and venture capital funds and he sits on the
Boards of Directors of early stage companies. From 1992 to 1996, Mr. Heimbuck served as President
and Chief Executive Officer of INMAC, a manufacturer and international business-to-business reseller
of computer and networking products. From 1988 to 1992, he served as President of Quantum
Commercial Products (previously Plus Development). From 1986 to 1988, Mr. Heimbuck served as a
partner of Montgomery Securities Venture Funds. Prior to 1986, he served as a senior executive in
various other public and private companies.

Warrern G. Lichtenstein. Mr. Lichtenstein has been a director of the Company since
September 2001. He has served as the Chairman of the Board, Secretary and the Managing Member of
Steel Partners, L.L.C., the general partner of Steel Partners I, L.P. (“Steel”), since January 1996. Prior
to such time, Mr. Lichtenstein was the Chairman and a director of Steel Partners, Ltd., the general
partner of Steel Partners Associates, L.P,, which was the general partner of Steel from 1993 to
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January 1996. He has served as a director of WebFinancial Corporation, a consumer and commercial
lender, since 1996 and as its President and Chief Executive Officer since December 1997.

Mr. Lichtenstein has served as a director and the Chief Executive Officer of Gateway Industries, Inc., a
provider of database development and Web site design and development services, since 1994 and as the
Chairman of the Board since 1995. Mr. Lichtenstein has served as a Director and the President and
Chief Executive Officer of Steel Partners, Ltd., a financial advisory and management company since
June 1999 and as its Secretary and Treasurer since May 2001. He has also served as Chairman of the
Board of Directors of Caribbean Fertilizer Group Ltd., a private company engaged in the production of
agricultural products in Puerto Rico and Jamaica, since June 2000. Mr. Lichtenstein is a director of SL
Industries, Inc., a manufacturer and marketer of Power and Data Quality systems and equipment.

Mr. Lichtenstein has served as Chairman of the Board and as Chief Executive Officer of SL Industries
since January 2002 and February 2002, respectively. He is also a director of the following publicly held
companies: Tandycrafts, Inc., a manufacturer of picture frames and framed art; Puroflow Incorporated,
a designer and manufacturer of precision filtration devices; ECC International Corp., 2 manufacturer
and marketer of computer-controlled simulators for training personnel to perform maintenance and
operator procedures on military weapons; United Industrial Corporation, a designer and producer of
defense, training, transportation and energy systems; and US Diagnostic Inc., an operator of outpatient
medical diagnostic imaging and related facilities.

Jerry K. Myers. Mr. Myers has been a director of the Company since April 1996. Since
January 1995, he has been a partner in the healthcare investment firm of CroBern Management
Partnership, LLP. Since Decemver 1995, Mr. Myers has been Chairman of Medcor, Inc., a workers’
compensation managed care firm. Since April 1999, he has been President and Chief Executive Officer
and a director of SleepMed Incorporated. From 1990 to 1994 he served as President, Chief Executive
Officer and a director of Steelcase, Inc. From 1986 through 1990 he was employed by TRW, Inc.
serving as general manager of the automotive sector. Mr. Myers is also a director of SleepMed
Incorporated.

Hans A. Wolf. Mr. Wolf has served as a director of the Company since February 1992 and as
Chairman of the Board since February 1995. Mr. Wolf also served as Interim Chief Executive Officer
of the Company from July, 2000 through December, 2000. Mr. Wolif was the Vice Chairman of Syntex
Corporation (“Syntex”) from October 1985 to December 1993, and was the Chief Administrative
Officer at Syntex from October 1985 to February 1992. Mr. Wolf is also a director of Network
Equipment Technologies, Inc. and a director of Satellite Healthcare, Inc.

David W. Wright. Mr. Wright has been a director of the Company since September 2001. Since
1995, he has served as a co-trustee, managing trustee and currently as President and managing member
of Henry Investment Trust, L.P., the general partner of and investment advisor to Henry Partners, L.P
and Matthew Partners, L., two private investment partnerships that invest in securities of publicly
traded companies. Mr. Wright has also served as a Director and Chairman of the Executive Committee
of Carl Fisher, Inc., a publisher, distributor and retailer of serious music from 1996 to 1998, when that
company was sold.

Agreements with Certain Stockholders. On September 10, 2001, the Company entered into separate
agreements with Warren G. Lichtenstein and David W. Wright. Mr. Lichtenstein and Mr. Wright were
each added to the Board of Directors and to the Company’s slate of nominees for election as directors
of the Company for a one-year term at the 2001 Annual Meeting, along with the five other current
directors. One of Mr. Lichtenstein or Mr. Wright was also added, immediately, to each of the board’s
four standing committees. These agreements also provided that if reelected at the 2001 Annual
Meeting, and if at least a majority of the elected board consisted of the Company’s nominees, one of
Mr. Lichtenstein or Mr. Wright would be appointed, so long as he serves on the Company’s Board of
Directors, to each of the Board of Director’s standing committees and any special committees for which

23




Piblgebacagsidadidd

i
b

Litibibtitiadids

o i

E
<=
:
-
2
i
e
4
==
i
e
-
o
-
e
e
sz
—
DO

i
i

R

i A
A;LLL_L A.[;LJ;‘

they are not legally disqualified. In addition, provided the Company was not in material default under
either of the two agreements, at the 2001 Annual Meeting, Steel Partners and Henry Investment Trust
agreed to vote all of the shares beneficially owned by them and their affiliates in favor of the election
of the Company’s director nominees. Copies of these agreements were filed on September 11, 2001 by
the Company as exhibits to a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Executive Qfficers. TFor information with respect to the executive officers of the Company, see
“Executive Officers” in Part I of this report.

Voting Agreements. As an inducement and a condition to its entering into the Merger Agreement
(see Item 1, “General”), T Acquisition, L.P. has required that all of the Company’s directors enter into
support/voting agreements with respect to shares of the Company’s common stock owned by them and
their controlled affiliates. The shares of common stock that are subject to the support/voting
agreements represent approximately 18% of the Company’s outstanding shares.

Under the support/voting agreements, the stockholders signing the agreements have agreed that, as
long as the support/voting agreement is in effect, they will vote their shares of the Company’s common
stock and any shares over which they have sole voting power or control:

= in favor of adoption and approval of the Merger Agreement, and
° against any acquisition proposal, as defined in the Merger Agreement.

Each stockholder party to a support/voting agreement also agreed that, as long as the support/
voting agreement is in effect, the stockholder and his or her controlled affiliates will not sell or agree
to sell or otherwise transfer or dispose of any of their shares of the Company’s common stock or any
voting rights with respect to the shares, other than with T Acquisition, L.P’s prior written consent,
which consent will not be unreasonably withheld if the individual or entity to whom the shares are
proposed to be sold, transferred or disposed agrees in writing to be bound by the support/voting
agreement. However,

o after the record date for the special meeting of the Company’s stockholders to be held to
vote on the merger agreement, the stockholders signing the support/voting agreements will
be permitted to sell in open market transactions the number of shares of the Company’s
common stock permitted under the volume limitations of Rule 144 under the Securities Act
of 1933 if the stockholder does not grant a proxy with respect to, or otherwise transfer the
right to vote at, the special meeting the shares of the Company’s common stock which are
sold, and

o after the date of the special meeting, the stockholder will be permitted to sell his or her
shares in open market transactions without restriction under the support/voting agreement.

The support/voting agreements will remain in effect until the first to occur of:
° the termination of the Merger Agreement in accordance with its terms,
o the effective time of the merger,

° the adoption by the parties to the Merger Agreement of any amendment to the Merger
Agreement that reduces the merger consideration payable per share of the Company’s
common stock below $5.85 in cash, and

° January 15, 2003.

The stockholders signing the support/voting agreements, in their capacities as owners of shares of
the Company’s common stock, also agreed that during the term of the support/voting agreements they
will not, and will not permit any of their controlled affiliates to, directly or indirectly, solicit, initiate,
encourage or facilitate, or furnish or disclose nonpublic information in furtherance of, any inquiries
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with respect to or the making of any acquisition proposal, or negotiate, explore or otherwise engage in
discussions with any person, other than T Acquisition, L.P. and T Acquisition Co. or their
representatives, with respect to any acquisition proposal, or enter into any agreement or understanding
requiring the stockholder to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the merger or any other
transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or to otherwise assist in the effectuation of any
acquisition proposal. However, nothing in the support/voting agreements will prevent the stockholders
signing the agreements from taking any action or omitting to take any action in his or her capacity as a
member of the board of directors of the Company, or any committee of the board, or, at the direction
of the board of directors of the Company, or any committee of the board, as an officer or employee of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, in each case, in accordance with the terms of the merger
agreement or as required by Delaware law to fulfill his or her fiduciary duties.

The directors signing the support/voting agreements also agreed that in the event

° of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization, reclassification, combination or exchange
of shares on, of or affecting the Company’s shares of the stockholder,

o the stockholder purchases or otherwise acquires beneficial ownership of any shares of the
Company, or

¢ the stockholder voluntarily acquires the sole right to vote any of the Company’s shares,
then these additional shares will generally be subject to the terms of the support/voting agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the stockholders signing the support/voting agreements made no
agreements or understandings under the support/voting agreements in their capacity as a director,
officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and nothing in the support/voting
agreements will limit or affect any actions or omissions taken by the stockholder in his or her capacity
as a director, officer or employee, including in exercising rights under the merger agreement, and none
of these actions or omissions will be a breach of the support/voting agreement.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance. Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 requires the Company’s executive officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more
than 10% of the Company’s Common Stock to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes
in ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such persons are required by
SEC regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms filed by such person.

Based solely on the Company’s review of such forms furnished to the Company and written
representations from certain reporting persons, the Company believes that all filing requirements
applicable to the Company’s executive officers, directors and more than 10% stockholders were
complied with.

ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive Compensation. The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation
of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and each person that served in that capacity during
fiscal 2002 and the four other most highly compensated executive officers of the Company as of
May 31, 2002 whose total salary and bonus for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2002 exceeded $100,000,
for services in all capacities to the Company and its subsidiaries, during the fiscal years ended May 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

doe it Lo bl da g iy

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Restricted Securities
Stoeck Underlying All Other
Name and Principal Pesition Year Salary Bonus Awards"10 Options Compensation?
Gary W. Ampulski® . . .. ... .. 2002 $350,000 $ 87,5000 0 0 $5,665
e President and Chief Executive 2001 $145,833 $150,000 0 260,000 $3,055
E Officer — — — — — —
- William Beattie® . ... ....... 2002 $163,072 § 32,530 0 0 $9,588(12)
B Vice President, International 2001 $184,347 §$ 92,584(N®) 0 30,000 $4,306
e 2000 3$124,780 $ 6,579 0 0 $ 786 |
Z§ Michael J. Nogle® ... ....... 2002 $165,000 $ 0 0 0 $5,775 -
= Vice President, Chief 2001 $ 33,756 $ 0 0 25,000 $ 821 ‘.
e Information Officer — — — — — — -
; Carter M. Perez® .......... 2002 $150,000 $ 68,959 0 0 $2,313
% Vice President, U.S. Sales 2001 $149,167 $171,880(®) 0 35,000 $5,358
e 2000 $137,500 $ 96,340 $24,844010 0 $6,020
’: Thomas J. Rauscher . ........ 2002 $190,000 $ 0 0 0 $4,115
Vice President, Manufacturing 2001 $190,000 $ 30,0007 0 50,000 $5,550
and Distribution 2000 $190,000 $ 0 $49,68819 0 $5,785
; ) Mr. Ampulski was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer effective January 1, 2001.
d (3 Mr. Beattie joined the Company on December 1, 1998 and was appointed Vice President,
o International effective May 30, 2001. Mr. Beattie also served as Interim President and Interim
3 _ Chief Operating Officer from July 2000 until January 2001.
= ® Mr. Nogle was appointed Vice President and Chief Information Officer effective March 19, 2001.
= ) Mr. Perez joined the Company on January 27, 1999 and was appointed Vice President, U.S. Sales
. effective December 19, 2000. v
' ®) Consists of Mr. Ampulski’s retention bonus paid on December 1, 2001, pursuant to his
i employment agreement with the Company. Mr. Ampulski was entitled to the retention bonus
3 because his employment with the Company was not terminated prior to December 1, 2001. See
Aj “Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change of Control Agreements”
b below.

© Consists of Mr. Ampulski’s hire-on bonus of $150,000, the bonus amount Mr. Ampulski
anticipated he would have earned from his previous employer. Mr. Ampulski received this bonus
in March 2001 pursuant to his employment agreement. See “Employment Contracts and
Termination of Employment and Change of Control Agreements” below.

3 @ In July 2000, the Compensation Committee approved bonuses for Mr. Beattie, Mr. Perez and
i Mr. Rauscher in the amounts of $40,000, $35,000 and $30,000, respectively, as both a retention
= bonus to encourage these executive officers to remain with the Company until a permanent Chief
: Executive Officer was selected and in recognition of work done in the 2000 fiscal year.

® Includes a bonus of $20,000 paid to Mr. Beattie for his services as Interim President and Interim
Chief Operating Officer from July 2000 until January 2001. Also includes an incentive bonus of
$32,584 earned by Mr. Beattie for the Company’s Canadian operating performance.
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© For fiscal 2002 and 2000, consists solely of amounts paid to Mr. Perez pursuant to the Company’s
Director of Sales Incentive Plan, For fiscal 2001, Mr. Perez received $136,880 pursuant to the
Company’s Director of Sales, Channel Partner Incentive Plan.

(19 Mr. Rauscher and Mr. Perez received 7,500 and 3,750 shares, respectively, of the Company’s
Common Stock as a stock bonus vesting on October 19, 2002, three years from the date of grant,
subject to both of them remaining as employees of the Company on October 19, 2002. The value
of these shares at May 31, 2002 was $5.40 per share, the closing price of the Company’s Common
Stock on such date; the closing price on the date of grant, October 19, 1999, was $6.625. The
aggregate value of the shares as of May 31, 2002 for Mr. Rauscher and Mr. Perez was $40,500
and $20,250, respectively. Mr. Rauscher and Mr. Perez also purchased an equal number of shares,
with equal value, on October 19, 1999, with payment made in the form of a promissory note
secured by such stock.

(1 TIncludes amounts deferred in the Company’s Tax Deferred Savings Plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for
Messrs. Ampulski, Nogle, Perez, and Rauscher in the amounts of $4,375, $5,085, $1,992 and
$3,665, respectively, during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2002. Also includes annual premiums
paid by the Company for life insurance policies for Messrs. Ampulski, Beattie, Nogle, Perez and
Rauscher in the amounts of $1,290, $2,283, $690, $321 and $450, respectively.

(2 Includes $7,305 Mr. Beattie received pursuant to the Registered Retirement Savings Plan.

Stock Options Granted During Fiscal 2002. No stock options were granted during fiscal 2002 to any
of the persons named in the Summary Compensation table.

Optien Exercises and Fiscal 2002 Year-End Values. The following table provides the specified
information concerning unexercised options held as of May 31, 2002, by the persons named in the
Summary Compensation Table. There were no exercises of options by any of the persons named in the
Summary Compensation Table during fiscal 2002. ‘

FISCAL YEAR-END COPTION VALUES

Value of Unexercised

Number of Unexercised : In-The-Meney
Options at 5/31/2002 Options at 5/31/02®
Name Exercisable Unexercisable [Exercisable Unexercisable
Gary W. Ampulski . ......... ... ... ... ..... 65,000 195,000 $212,875 $638,625
William Beattie ... ........ ... ... ... ...... 22,142 27,858 $ 18,867 $ 40,483
Michael J. Nogle . ...... ... ... ... ... ...... — 25,000 $ — $ 45,000
Carter M. Perez . . .. ... ... i 11,606 28,394 $ 17,230 $ 51,270
Thomas J. Rauscher. .. ..................... 76,963 33,037 $ 49,597 $ 80,403

M Valuation is based on the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of
the Company s common Stock on May 31, 2002, which was $5.40 per share, based on the closmg
" trade price of the Common Stock on the American Stock Exchange on such date.
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Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change of Countrol Agreemernts

AR

The Company has entered into an employment agreement with Gary W. Ampulski, the Company’s
President and Chief Executive Officer, effective as of January 1, 2001. Pursuant to Mr. Ampulski’s
employment agreement, he receives an annual salary of $350,000 and, commencing with the Company’s
fiscal year beginning June 1, 2001, he is eligible to receive annual bonuses based upon the Company’s
achievement of various financial and/or other goals established by the Board of Directors of the
Company for up to 100% of his then current annual base salary, with a target bonus equal to 60% of
his then current base salary. Pursuant to the employment agreement, on March 1, 2001, Mr. Ampulski
was paid a hire-on bonus equal to the bonus he anticipated he would have earned from his previous
employer, in the amount of $150,000, of which he was obligated to repay one half to the Company if
he would have left the Company voluntarily prior to January 1, 2002. Mr. Ampulski was paid a
retention bonus in the amount of $87,500 on December 1, 2001, as provided in the employment
agreement because his employment with the Company had not terminated prior to such date.

Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Ampulski was granted an option to purchase 250,000
shares of the Company’s Common Stock on December 14, 2000, the date he was appointed as a
member of the Board of Directors of the Company, and also received an automatic option grant of
10,000 shares under the 1996 Qutside Directors Stock Option Plan. The Company reimbursed
Mr. Ampulski for his reasonable, temporary expenses of commuting between Illinois and San Jose and
for his living expenses in the San Jose area from the start of his employment until the Company
relocated to Illinois in April 2001. The agreement also provides for a loan by the Company to
Mr. Ampulski to enable him to repay the outstanding balance of a loan Mr. Ampulski received from
his former employer. For additional information about such loan, see “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” below.

Except as provided in the Change of Control Agreement between Mr. Ampulski and the Company
(as described below), in the event his employment is terminated by the Company without Cause or in
the event of his resignation for Good Reason, each as defined in the employment agreement,
Mr. Ampulski is entitled to severance payments equal to the sum of an amount equal to two times his
annual base salary in effect immediately prior to such termination and whichever of the following is
applicable as of the date of termination of employment: (a) provided he has completed at least two
fiscal years of employment with the Company, an amount equal to two times the average of the annual
incentive bonuses actually earned by him for the two fiscal years prior to termination, (b) provided he
has completed at least one full fiscal year of employment with the Company but less than two full fiscal
years of such employment, an amount equal to two times the annual incentive bonus actually earned by
him for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year of his termination, or (c) provided he has completed
less than one full fiscal year of employment with the Company, an amount equal to $300,000. His
severance payments would also include accrued vacation pro rated to the date of termination of
employment.

In May 2001, Mr. Ampulski’s employment agreement was amended to provide that, in the event
there has occurred, within the twelve months prior to a termination of his employment without Cause
or his resignation for Good Reason, each as defined in the employment agreement, a change in the
Board of Directors of the Company as a result of which fewer than a majority of Directors are ;
Incumbent Directors, as defined in the amendment, Mr. Ampulski’s stock options granted pursuant to -
the employment agreement shall become immediately exercisable and vested in full as of the date of
his termination of employment. -

The Company entered into a change of control agreement with Mr. Ampulski effective as of
January 1, 2001, which provides that, in the event that Mr. Ampulski’s employment with the Company
is terminated as a result of Involuntary Resignation, as defined in the agreement, within three months
prior to, upon or within twelve months following a Change of Control, then, in lieu of severance
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benefits he would otherwise receive under his employment agreement, he will be entitled to severance
payments equal to the sum of an amount equal to two times of his annual base salary in effect
immediately prior to the date of his Involuntary Resignation and whichever of the following is
applicable as of such date: (a) provided he has completed at least two fiscal years of employment with
the Company, an amount equal to two times of the average of the annual incentive bonuses actually
earned by him for the two fiscal years prior to his Involuntary Resignation, (b) provided he has
completed at least one full fiscal year of employment with the Company but less than two full fiscal
years of such employment, an amount equal to two times of the annual incentive bonus actually earned
by him for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year of his Involuntary Resignation, or (c) provided he
has completed less than one full fiscal year of employment with the Company, an amount equal to
$300,000. For a period of eighteen months following his Involuntary Resignation, the Company shall
reimburse Mr. Ampulski for any premiums paid by him for continued group health insurance coverage
under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”). In addition, in the event of a
Change of Control, the options granted to Mr. Ampulski pursuant to his employment agreement shall
become immediately exercisable and vested in full as of the date that is ten days prior to the Change of
Control. Under this agreement, a change of control is defined as the occurrence of: (a) any person or
entity directly or indirectly acquiring beneficial ownership of 509% or more of the total voting power
represented by the Company’s outstanding voting securities; (b) a merger or consolidation of the
Company with any other corporation involving the transfer of securities representing 50% or more of
the total voting power represented by the Company’s outstanding securities immediately prior to such
merger or consolidation; (¢) the complete liquidation of the Company; or (d) the sale or disposition by
the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, unless the Company remains an
operating business and a going concern, and with respect to the acceleration of his options, the
Company continues his options in effect.

The Company has entered into a form of change of control agreement with certain of its current
executive officers who were hired by the Company prior to December 2000. The agreements provide
that if within one month prior to or twelve months following a Change of Control of the Company,
such executive officer’s employment is terminated as a result of Involuntary Termination, as defined in
the agreements, such executive officer will be entitled to: (a} all salary, accrued but unused vacation
earned through the date of the executive officer’s termination and the executive officer’s target bonus
for the year in which termination occurs, pro rated through the date of termination; (b) severance pay
in an amount equal to 150% of his or her annual base salary at the time of such termination, plus
150% of the executive officer’s annual bonus at the “on target” level for the fiscal year in which the
executive officer is terminated, payable in lump sum within 30 days of termination; and (c) for a period
of 12 months from the date of termination or until commencement of new employment, whichever is
earlier, reimbursement for COBRA premiums paid by him or her for continued group health insurance
coverage. The agreements provide that the executive officer shall be entitled to acceleration of vesting
for such executive officer’s stock options as provided under the Company’s 1991 Stock Option Plan or
any applicable successor plan. A Change of Control includes a change in the board of directors of the
Company as a result of which fewer than a majority of directors are incumbent directors. Under the
agreements, a Change of Control is defined as the occurrence of: (a) any person or entity directly or
indirectly acquiring beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the total voting power represented by the
Company’s outstanding voting securities; (b) a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other
corporation involving the transfer of securities representing 50% or more of the total voting power
represented by the Company’s outstanding securities immediately prior to such merger or consolidation;
{(c) the complete liquidation of the Company; (d) the sale or disposition by the Company of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets; or (e) a change in the Board of Directors of the Company
within a two-year period as a result of which fewer than a majority of the directors are Incumbent
Directors. Incumbent Directors include directors as of the effective date of the agreement or a director
who is appointed or nominated by the Board of Directors or its nominating committee and whose
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nomination or appointment is approved by the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent
Directors at the time of such appointment or nomination, not including an individual whose election or
nomination is in connection with an actual or threatened proxy contest relating to the election of
directors to the Company.

The Company has entered into a form of change of control agreement with each of its executive
officers who were hired by the Company after December 2000, other than Mr. Ampulski who entered
into the change of control agreement described above. The agreements provide that if within three
months prior to, upon or within twelve months following a Change of Control of the Company, such
executive officer’s employment is terminated as a result of Involuntary Termination, as defined in the
agreement, such executive officer will be entitled to severance payments equal to the sum of either
50% or 100%, as specified in the agreement, of the executive officer’s annual base salary in effect
immediately prior to the date of Involuntary Termination and whichever of the following is applicable
as of such date: (a) provided the executive officer has completed at least two fiscal years of
employment with the Company, an amount equal to 50% or 100%, as specified in the agreement, of
the average of the incentive bonuses actually earned by the executive officer for the two fiscal years
prior to such Involuntary Termination, (b) provided the executive officer has completed at least one full
fiscal year of employment with the Company but less than two full fiscal years of such employment, an
amount equal to 50% or 100%, as specified in the agreement, of the annual incentive bonus actually
earned by the executive officer for the fiscal year preceding the fiscal year of such Involuntary
Termination, or (c) provided the executive officer has completed less than one full fiscal year of
employment with the Company, an amount equal to 50% or 100%, as specified in the agreement, of
the executive officer’s target annual incentive bonus, if any. The agreements provide that such executive
officers shall be entitled to receive accrued vacation to the date of such executive officer’s Involuntary
Termination and, for a period of up to twelve months after Involuntary Termination of the executive
officer but ending upon commencement of new employment, the Company shall reimburse the
executive officer for any COBRA premiums for continued group health insurance coverage. In the
event of a Change of Control, the options to purchase Common Stock currently held by such executive
officer shall become immediately exercisable and vested in full as of the date that is ten days prior to
the Change of Control. The agreements further provide that in the event there has occurred within the
twelve months prior to a termination of the executive officer’s employment as a result of Involuntary
Termination, a change in the board of directors of the Company as a result of which fewer than a
majority of Directors are Incumbent Directors, as defined in the agreements, the executive officer shall
be entitled to receive the severance benefits described above and the options currently held by such
executive officer shall become immediately exercisable and vested in full as of the date of the
Involuntary Termination. Under the agreements, a Change of Control is defined as the occurrence of:
(a) any person or entity directly or indirectly acquiring beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the
total voting power represented by the Company’s outstanding voting securities; (b) a merger or
consolidation of the Company with any other corporation involving the transfer of securities
representing 50% or more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s outstanding
securities immediately prior to such merger or consolidation; (c) the complete liquidation of the
Company; or (d) the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s
assets, unless the Company remains an operating business and a going concern, and with respect to the
acceleration of the executive officer’s options, the Company continues such options in effect.

Options granted under the Company’s 1991 Stock Option Plan and 2001 Nonstatutory Stock
Option Plan contain provisions pursuant to which unexercised options become immediately exercisable
upon a “Transfer of Control” and terminate to the extent they are not exercised as of the
consummation of the Transfer of Control. Both such plans define a Transfer of Control as: (a) the
direct or indirect sale or exchange by the stockholders of the Company of all or substantially all of the
stock of the Company where such stockholders do not retain at least a majority of the voting stock of
the Company after such sale or exchange; (b) a merger or consolidation of the Company into or with

30




another corporation as a result of which stockholders of the Company before such merger or
consolidation shall own less than 50% of the voting securities of the surviving corporation; or (c) the
sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets. Under the 2001 Stock Option Plan, the Board of
Directors has discretion to provide for acceleration of the vesting of any option in connection with a
Change of Control, as defined in the plan, or such terms as the Board determines.

Director Compensation For Last Fiscal Year. The Company pays each of its outside directors
$15,000 per year, plus an additional $1,000 for each Board and Committee meeting attended, as
compensation for their services as members of the Board of Directors of the Company. An additional
$500 is paid to each Committee Chairman for each committee meeting attended. During the fiscal year
ended May 31, 2002, the Chairman of the Board of the Company received an additional $30,000 for his
services to the Company in that capacity. In addition, the Company’s 1996 Qutside Directors Stock
Option Plan (the “Directors Plan”) provides for initial grants of options to purchase 10,0600 shares of
the Common Stock of the Company to non-employee directors at the fair market value on the date of
grant. The Directors Plan further provides for the automatic annual grant of an additional option to
purchase 2,000 shares of the Common Stock of the Company on the date of each annual meeting of
stockholders after adoption of the plan to each non-employee director of the Company who remains a
member of the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Myers, Mr. Heimbuck and Mr. Wright also
received in fiscal 2002, $20,000 and $10,000 and $10,000, respectively, in consulting fees for services
performed on the Special Committee of the Board of Directors.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information, as of July 31, 2002 with respect to the beneficial
ownership of the Company’s common stock by (a}) all persons known by the Company to be the
beneficial owners of more than 5% of the outstanding common stock of the Company, (b) each
director of the Company, (c) each of the five most highly compensated executive officers, and (d) all
current directors and executive officers as a group.

Number of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owners® Shares® Percent®

Principal Stockholders

Tab Products Co. Tax Deferred Savings Plan and Trust . ... ............. 676,824 13.2%
935 Lakeview Pkwy., Suite 195
Vernon Hills, IL 60061

Tab Products Co. Pension Plan and TTUSt . . . . v v oo oo oo oo e e e e e e 48,6000) *
935 Lakeview Pkwy., Suite 195
Vernon Hills, IL 60061

Steel Partners II, L.P.

Warren G. Lichtenstein . .. ... ...ttt 518,400 10.1%
150 East 52" Street, 21% Floor
New York, NY 10022

Dimensional Fund Advisors INC. .« . . v vt vt o oo e e e e e e 419,800 8.2%
1299 Ocean Avenue, 11th Floor
Santa Monica, CA 90401
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Number of
Name and Address of Beneficial OwnersV Shares® Percent®

ROI Capital Management, Inc.,

Mark T. Boyer and

Mitchell J. Soboleski . ......... .. ... . . . o 367,800 7.2%
17 E. Sir Francis Drake Boulevard, Suite 225
Larkspur, CA 94939

Phillip Ean Cohen, Hamilton Sorter Co., Inc.,

HS Morgan Corporation, HS Morgan Limited

Partnership, Thaddeus S. Jaroszewicz,

Watkins C. Johnston, Mark J. Dessy,

MS TP Limited Partnership, MSTP, LLC,

T Acquisition Co. and T Acquisition L.P. .. . ... ... oo, 345,000 6.7%
¢/o Hamilton Sorter, Inc.
3158 Production Drive
Fairfield, OH 45014

JANA Partners LLC . . . ..ot e e e e e e 266,300 5.2%
536 Pacific Avenue
San Francisco, CA 94133

Directors and Executive Officers

b bt e

Gary W Ampulski . . . oo oo 103,442(19 2.0%

Kathryn S. Hansomn . ... ...ttt e 20,5001 *

Jeffrey A. Heimbuck . .. ... ot 5,000 *

Warren G. LIChtenstein . . . . oo et e et e e e e e e e 518,400©® 10.1%

Jerry K. MIYErS .ottt e e i e 28,0004 *

Hans A. Wolf . ..o 201,17449 3.9%

David W Wright . .. ..o 197,10049 3.8%

WALLAM BEALHE . . . . . oo ettt 25,32007 * =

Michael . NoOgle . ... o 11,40408) * —

Carter M. PEICZ . . . o oo et e e e e e e 23,85509) * B
) Thomas J. RauSCher . .. ..ot e e e 99,6070 1.9%

Directors and executive officers as a group (15 persons) ................ 1,249,576Y 23.1%

* Less than 1%

() Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table, the persons named in the table have sole voting
and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by
them, subject to community property laws, where applicable. Unless otherwise indicated above,
the principal business address of each executive officer and director of the Company is c¢/o Tab
Products Co., 935 Lakeview Pkwy., Suite 195, Vernon Hills, Illinois 60061.

= ) The number and percentage of shares beneficially owned are determined under rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the information is not necessarily indicative of
beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under these rules, beneficial ownership includes any
shares as to which the individual has sole or shared voting power or investment power and also
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any shares that the individual has the right to acquire within 60 days of July 31, 2002 through the
exercise of any stock option or other right.

Calculated on the basis of 5,123,915 shares of common stock outstanding as of July 31, 2002,
provided that any additional shares of common stock that a stockholder has the right to acquire
within 60 days after July 31, 2002 are deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of calculating
that stockholder’s percentage beneficial ownership.

Based on a monthly report dated July 31, 2002, prepared by the Charles Schwab Trust Company,
the trustee of the Tab Products Co. Tax Deferred Savings Plan and Trust (the “401(k) Plan”). All
of the shares owned by the 401(k) Plan are allocated among the accounts of the 401(k) Plan
participants. Pursuant to the 401(k) Plan, each participant is entitled to direct the trustee with
respect to all voting shares allocated to his or her account.

Based on a monthly report dated July 2002, prepared by the Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the trustee
of the Tab Products Co. Pension Plan and Trust (the “Pension Plan”). Pursuant to the Pension
Plan Trust Agreement, the shares held in the Pension Plan shall be voted by the trustee according
to written directions it has received from the Employee Benefits Committee.

Based solely on Amendment No. 4 to Schedule 13D filed by Steel Partners II, L.P. and Warren G.
Lichtenstein on August 14, 2002, and includes 515,900 shares of the Company’s common stock
reported to be beneficially owned by Steel Partners II, L.P. and Mr. Lichtenstein and 2,500 shares
that are presently exercisable or that will become exercisable within 6C days of July 31, 2002.

Mr. Lichtenstein reported having sole dispositive and sole voting power with respect to these
shares by virtue of his authority to vote and dispose of them as the sole executive officer and
managing member of Steel Partners II, L.P.

Based solely on information contained in Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13G filed February 12,
2002, and includes 419,800 shares of the Company’s common stock reported to be held by
Dimensional Fund Advisors Inc. but which are owned by certain investment companies, trusts and
accounts for which Dimensional Fund Advisors serves as investment advisor or manager.
Dimensional Fund Advisors disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares.

Based solely on information contained in Amendment No. 4 to Schedule 13G filed February 15,
2002, and includes 367,800 shares of the Company’s common stock reported to be held by ROI
Capital Management, Inc., Mark T. Boyer and Mitchell J. Soboleski.

Based solely on Amendment No. 17 to Schedule 13D filed July 31, 2002, and includes 338,900
shares of the Company’s common stock beneficially owned by each of Phillip Ean Cohen,
Hamilton Sorter Co., Inc., HS Morgan Corporation, HS Morgan Limited Partnership, MS TP
Limited Partnership, MSTP, LLC, T Acquisition Co. and T. Acquisition L.P, 100 shares
beneficially owned by Thaddeus S. Jaroszewicz, 1,000 shares beneficially owned by Watkins C.
Johnston and 5,000 shares beneficially owned by Mark J. Dessy. In addition, this number of
shares does not include 915,545 shares of TAB’s common stock and options to acquire 405,000
shares of TAB’s common stock that are subject to the support/voting agreements described above
under “Voting Agreements.” T Acquisition L.P. disclaims that it beneficially owns the shares that
are subject to these support/voting agreements.

Based solely on information contained in the Schedule 13D filed October 25, 2001, and includes
266,300 shares of the Company’s common stock reported to be beneficially owned by JANA
Partners LLC.

Includes 65,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable, 5,400 shares held by Mr. Ampulski’s wife, 1,500 shares held by Mr. Ampulski’s
stepson and 500 shares held by Mr. Ampulski’s granddaughter. Also, includes 8,842 shares
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allocated to Mr. Ampulski’s account under the 401(k) Plan as of July 31, 2002, based on a recent
monthly report prepared by the recordkeeper under the 401(k) Plan. Mr. Ampulski may direct
the trustee of the 401(k) Plan with respect to the voting of these shares as described in footnote 4
above. These shares are also included in the number of shares shown as owned by Tab

Products Co. Tax Deferred Savings Plan and Trust.

(2 Includes 18,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002.

(13) Consists solely of 5,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are
presently exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002.

(4 Includes 18,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002.

(5 Includes 42,874 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002.

(19 The shares attributed to Mr. Wright include 169,500 shares of the Company’s common stock
beneficially owned by Henry Partners L.P, 25,100 shares of the Company’s common stock
beneficially owned by Matthew Partners L.P. and 2,500 shares that may be acquired upon the
exercise of options that are presently exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of
July 31, 2002. Mr. Wright is the President and managing member of Canine Partners, LLC, the
general partner of Henry Investment Trust, L.P, the general partner of, and investment advisor
to, Henry Partners, L.P. and Matthew Partners, L.P. He has sole dispositive and sole voting power
with respect to the shares of the Company’s common stock held by Henry Partners, L.P. and
Matthew Partners, L.P.

I

|

Gbbbl bl iieddd i d i b st b babblbb i gtani LE L Bl gt Ed

(7 Includes 24,820 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002.

(%) Tncludes 9,375 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002. Also includes 1,429
shares allocated to Mr. Nogle’s account under the 401(k) Plan as of July 31, 2002, based on
recent monthly report prepared by the recordkeeper under the 401(k) Plan. Mr. Nogle may direct
the trustee of the 401(k) Plan with respect to the voting of these shares as described in footnote 4
above. These shares are also included in the number of shares shown as owned by Tab
Products Co. Tax Deferred Savings Plan and Trust.

(19 Includes 12,722 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002. Also includes 2,907
shares allocated to Mr. Perez’s account under the 401(k) Plan as of July 31, 2002, based on a
recent monthly report prepared by the recordkeeper under the 401(k) Plan. Mr. Perez may direct
the trustee of the 401(k) Plan with respect to the voting of these shares as described in footnote 4
above. These shares are also included in the number of shares shown as owned by Tab
Products Co. Tax Deferred Savings Plan and Trust.

—
=
4
e

e
=

A

+
it

@ Tncludes 79,640 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002. Also includes 4,667
shares allocated to Mr. Rauscher’s account under the 401(k) Plan as of July 31, 2002, based upon
a recent monthly report prepared by the recordkeeper under the 401(k) Plan. Mr. Rauscher may
direct the trustee of the 401(k) Plan with respect to the voting of these shares as described in
footnote 4 above. These shares are also included in the number of shares shown as owned by Tab
Products Co. Tax Deferred Savings Plan and Trust.
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D Tncludes 287,931 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options that are presently
exercisable or that will become exercisable within 60 days of July 31, 2002. Also includes 22,319
shares allocated to individual executive officer’s accounts under the 401(k) Plan as of July 31,
2002, based upon a recent monthly report prepared by the recordkeeper under the 401(k) Plan.
These executive officers may direct the trustee of the 401(k) Plan with respect to the voting of
these shares as described in footnote 4 above. These shares are also included in the number of
shares shown as owned by Tab Products Co. Tax Deferred Savings Plan and Trust.

Equity Compensation Plar Information. The following table summarizes share and exercise price
information for the Company’s equity compensation plans as of May 31, 2002.

Number of securities to be Weighted-average Number of securities
issued upon exercise of exercise price of remaining available for
outstanding options, sutstanding options, future issuance under
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights  equity compensation plans
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders . . .. ......... 419,750 $4.73 300,000
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders. . . . .. 378,000 $2.61 93,000
Total ....... ... ... ... ... . ... 797,750 N/A ’ 393,000

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions. Pursuant to the employment agreement between
the Company and Gary W. Ampulski described above in “Employment Contracts and Termination of
Employment and Change of Control Arrangements,” in March 2001, the Company loaned
Mr. Ampulski the principal sum of $139,503 to enable him to repay the outstanding balance of a loan
payable to his former employer. The loan is secured by Mr. Ampulski’s home; it bears interest at the
rate of 4.3% per annum and principal and interest payments will be made through payroll deductions
on a semi-monthly basis beginning March 15, 2001 and ending February 28, 2004.

In October 1999, the Company implemented a Stock Purchase and Stock Bonus Program
(“Program”) with certain executive officers and key employees of the Company. Each participating
employee borrowed funds from the Company to acquire a specified number of common shares. In
addition, an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock was granted to each individual as a
restricted stock bonus. The restricted stock bonus vests after three years if the participant remains
employed by the Company throughout that period. The note and accrued interest will be forgiven after
three years if the participant continues employment with the Company throughout that period. If the
participant ceases to be employed by the Company during the three year period after acquiring the
Program shares, the participant will forfeit to the Company the shares granted as a restricted stock
bonus and the note accelerates and becomes payable in full. The Company issued an aggregate of
207,500 shares of treasury stock under the Program. Under the Program, all of such shares are held by
the Company as collateral to secure the notes receivable. As of May 31, 2002, executive officers held an
aggregate of 11,250 shares issued as restricted stock, restricted bonuses and 11,250 shares purchased
with promissory notes. A total of 177,500 shares subject to the Program have been reacquired by the
Company on termination of employment of participants.
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PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

A. The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Page Number

Independent Auditors’ Report. . .......... ... ... ... ... ... .. 42
Consolidated Statements of Cperations

for the three years ended May 31,2002 ...................... 43
Consolidated Balance Sheets

at May 31,2002 and 2001 . ..... ... .. . e 44
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

for the three years ended May 31,2002 . ..................... 45
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

for the three years ended May 31,2002 ...................... 46
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. . ................... 47-67

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule for the three years ended May 31, 2002:
Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts .................. 68
All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in
the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits

See Index to Exhibits on pages 36 to 39. The Exhibits listed in the accompanying Index are
referenced as part of this report.

B. Reports on Form 8-K:
None.

EXHIBITS:

2.1 Merger Agreement Among T Acquisition L.B, T Acquisition Co. and the Company
dated July 29, 2002 (Exhibit 2 filed with Form 8-K dated July 29, 2002)®

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation (Exhibit 3.1 of 1993 Form 10-K)®@

32 Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of the Terms of the Series A
Preferred Stock (Exhibit 3.2 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30,
1996)®

34 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company dated September 10, 2001
(Exhibit 3.5 of Form 8-K/A dated September 19, 2001)®
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EXHIBITS:

4.1

42

4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

109

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

Form of Rights Agreement between the Company and ChaseMellon Shareholder
Services, L.L.C., as Rights Agent (including as Exhibit A the form of Certificate of
Designation, Preferences and Rights of the Terms of the Series A Preferred Stock, as
Exhibit B the form of Right Certificate, and as Exhibit C the Summary of Terms of
Rights Agreement)(Exhibit 1 of Form 8-X dated October 17, 1996)®

Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement between the Company and Mellon Investor
Services L.L.C. (f/k/a ChaseMellon Shareholder Services L.L.C.) dated September 10,
2001 (Exhibit 99.4 of Form 8-K/A dated September 13, 2001)®

Amendment No. 2 to Rights Agreement between the Company and Mellon Investor
Services L.L.C (f/k/a ChaseMellon Shareholder Services L.L.C.) dated July 29, 2002
(Exhibit 4 filed with Form 8-K dated July 29, 2002)®

1991 Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.1 of the 1991 Form 10-K)M@

Note Agreement of Tab Products Co. dated as of March 20, 1992 in the aggregate
principal amount of $15,000,000 (Exhibit 10.5 of the 1992 Form 10-K)®

Amendment dated July 27, 1993 to Note Agreement of Tab Products Co. dated as of
March 20, 1992 (Exhibit 10.16 filed with the 1993 Form 10-K)®

Note Agreement of Tab Products Co. dated October 7, 1993 (Exhibit 10.20 filed with
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 1993)®@

Letter dated Cctober 7, 1993 amending the Prudential Note Agreement dated
March 20, 1992 (Exhibit 10.21 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31,
1993)@

Letter dated October 27, 1993 amending the Prudential Note Agreement dated
March 20, 1992 (Exhibit 10.27 filed with the 1994 Form 10-K)®

Letter dated June 15, 1995 amending the Prudential Note Agreement dated March 20,
1992 (Exhibit 10.32 filed with the 1995 Form 10-K)®

Letter dated July 21, 1995 amending the Prudential Note Agreement dated March 20,
1992 (Exhibit 10.33 filed with the 1995 Form 10-K)®

Letter dated December 13, 1995 amending the Prudential Note Agreement dated
March 20, 1992 (Exhibit 10.35 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
November 30, 1995)®

Letter dated August 20, 1996 amending the Prudential Note Agreement dated
March 20, 1992 (Exhibit 10.37 filed with the 1996 Form 10-K)®

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Company and each of its Executive
Officers and Directors (Exhibit 10.38 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
November 30, 1996)1@

Outside Directors’ Option Plan and Agreement (Exhibit 10.41 filed with Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended November 30, 1996)(1)

Employment Agreement between the Company and Philip C. Kantz (Exhibit 10.42
filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 1997)1®

Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement between the Company and Philip C. Kantz
(Exhibit 10.43 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 1997)(V®
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EXHIBITS:

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.25
10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement between the Company and Philip C. Kantz
(Exhibit 10.44 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 1997)()@

Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement between the Company and Philip C. Kantz
(Exhibit 10.45 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 1997)()2

Bank of America Business Loan Agreement dated November 1, 1998 (Exhibit 10.1 -
filed with form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 1998)® i

Lease Agreement dated January 29, 1999 (Exhibit 10.1 filed with Form 10-C for the
quarter ended February 28, 1999)®

Letter dated May 28, 1999 amending the Prudential Note Agreement dated March 20,
1992 (Exhibit 10.21 filed with 1999 Form 10-K)®

Bank of America Amendment No.1 dated May 31, 1999 to Business Loan Agreement
dated November 1, 1998 (Exhibit 10.22 filed with 1999 Form 10-K)®

Bank of America Amendment No.2 dated May 31, 1999 to Business Loan Agreement
dated November 1, 1998 (Exhibit 10.23 filed with 1999 Form 10-K)®

Form of Change of Control Agreement between the Company and certain Executive
Officers hired before January 1, 2001 (Exhibit 10.24 filed with 1999 Form 10-K)®

Sale of Field Service Group as reported on Form 8-K/A (filed July 30, 1999)®

Form of Tab Products Co. Stock Purchase Agreement relating to the Leveraged Stock
Purchase Program between the Company and certain executive officers and key
employees (Exhibit 10.1 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30,
1999)H@

Bank of America Amendment No. 3 dated September 24, 1999 to Business Loan
Agreement dated November 1, 1998 (Exhibit 10.2 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended November 30, 1999)(

Bank of America Amendment No. 4 dated January 13, 2000 to Business Loan
Agreement dated November 30, 1998 (Exhibit 10.1 filed with Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended February 29, 2000)

Bank of America Amendment No. 5 dated April 10, 2000 to Business Loan Agreement
dated November 1, 1998 (Exhibit 10.29 filed with 2000 Form 10-K)®

Confidential Retirement Agreement and General Release of Claims between Philip C.
Kantz and Tab Products Co. (Exhibit 10.30 filed with 2000 Form 10-K)()®

Business Loan Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Tab Products Co.
dated November 21, 2000 (Exhibit 10.1 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
November 30, 2000)®

Employment Agreement between the Company and Gary W. Ampulski (Exhibit 10.1
filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2001)()®

Change of Control Agreement between the Company and Gary W. Ampulski
(Exhibit 10.2 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2001)(®

Form of Change of Control Agreement for Executive Officers hired after January 1,
2001 (Exhibit 10.34 filed with 2001 Form 10-K)1)®
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EXHIBITS:

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

1041

10.42

10.43

10.44
211
23.1
99.1

Letter Agreement amending the Employment Agreement between the Company and
Gary W. Ampulski, dated May 30, 2001 (Exhibit 10.35 filed with 2001 Form 10-K)\®

Promissory Note between the Company and Gary W. Ampulski, dated March 1, 2001
(Exhibit 10.36 filed with 2001 Form 10-K)@

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between the Company and Gary W, Ampulski
dated December 14, 2000 (Exhibit 10.37 filed with 2001 Form 10-K)»®

2001 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan and Form of Agreement (Exhibit 10.38 filed with
2001 Form 10-K)®

Modification to Business Loan Agreement dated August 21, 2001 from Comerica Bank
(Exhibit 10.1 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2001)®@

Agreement, made as of September 10, 2001, by and among the Company, a Delaware
corporation, Steel Partners II, L.P.,, a Delaware limited partnership, Steel Partners
L.L.C, a Delaware limited liability company, Steel Partners Services, Ltd., a Delaware
corporation, and Warren G. Lichtenstein, a natural person and citizen of the United
States of America (Exhibit 99.1 filed with Form 8-K dated September 11, 2001)®

Agreement, made as of September 10, 2001, by and among the Company, a Delaware
corporation, Henry Partners, L.E, a Delaware limited partnership, Matthew Partners,
L.P, a Delaware limited partnership, and David W. Wright, a natural person and
citizen of the United States of America (Exhibit 99.2 filed with Form 8-K dated
September 11, 2001)®

Modification to Business Loan Agreement between Comerica Bank and the Company
dated November 16, 2001 (Exhibit 10.1 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
November 30, 2001)®

Loan Revision / Extension Agreement between the Company and Comerica Bank
dated November 16, 2001 (Exhibit 10.2 filed with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
November 30, 2001)@

2001 Stock Option Plan®
Subsidiaries
Independent Auditors’ Consent

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Cxley Act of 2002

@ Compensatory Plan or Arrangement

@ Incorporated by reference from the noted previously filed document.
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= SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Vernon Hills, in the State of Illinois, on this 27th day of August, 2002.

ol did ik

TAB ProODUCTS CoO.

/s/ GARY W. AMPULSKI

Gary W. Ampulski
President & Chief Executive Officer

siilod b

bk s

i3 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Name and Title Date

PR ORI o

/s/ GARY W. AMPULSKI

= Gary W. Ampulski, President and August 27, 2002
e Chief Executive Officer

— /s/ DoNALD J. HoTZ -

Donald J. Hotz, Vice President, August 27, 2002
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

i \

4
'y

/s/ ROBERT J. CRECCA

Robert J. Crecca, Corporate Controller, August 27, 2002
Chief Accounting Officer and Asst. Secretary

-
F

TR
b

Ll

/s/ HANS A. WOLF
Hans A. Wolf, Chairman of the Board

August 27, 2002

RN

/s/ KATHRYN S. HANSON
. ‘ August 27, 2002
Kathryn S. Hanson, Director :

/s/ JEFFREY A. HEIMBUCK
Jeffrey A. Heimbuck, Director

August 27, 2002

AR R

5 /s/ WARREN G. LICHTENSTEIN

. . . August 27, 2002
Warren G. Lichtenstein, Director

/s/ JERRY K. MYERS

- August 27, 2002
Jerry K. Myers, Director

/s/ DAVID W. WRIGHT
David W. Wright, Director

August 27, 2002
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TAB PRODUCTS CO.
CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
FORM 10-K ITEM 14

FISCAL YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2002, 2601 AND 2000
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Tab Products Co.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tab Products Co. and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of May 31, 2002 and 2001 and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of stockholders’ equity, and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
May 31, 2002. Qur audits also included the financial statement schedule of the Company for each of
the three years in the period ended May 31, 2002 listed in Item 14A. These financial statements and
the financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Tab Products Co. and its subsidiaries as of May 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2002 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated

financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information shown

therein.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chicago, Illinois
July 1, 2002
(July 29, 2002 as to Notes 1 and 19)
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TAB PRODUCTS CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended May 31

2002 2001 2000
ReVenUEs . ..........uuui i, $103,947,000 $118,522,000 $130,568,000
Operating costs and expenses:
Costof revenues .............c.uuiiiuenin.. 64,630,000 74,442,000 80,590,000
Selling, general and administrative. . .............. 44,731,000 63,351,000 61,686,000
Total operating costs and expenses . ................ 109,361,000 137,793,000 142,276,000
Operating 1oss . . . ..., .t (5,414,000)  (19,271,000)  (11,708,000)
Gain on sale of business unit .. ............. .. ..., — ~— 13,794,000
Gain on sale of property . ........ ... . . . ... — 1,119,000 12,919,000
Interest and other,net . .. .............. ... .. .... 133,000 (214,000) (159,000)
(Loss) earnings before income taxes . ............... (5,281,000)  (18,366,000) 14,846,000
(Benefit) provision for income taxes ................ (1,891,000) (6,612,000) 6,272,000
Net (loss) earnings before cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle . ... ....... ... ... ... ... (3,390,000)  (11,754,000) 8,574,000
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . . . — (330,000) —
) Net (loss) earnings. . . ........vuvvnuvneennnn. .. $ (3,390,000) $(12,084,000) $ 8,574,000

(Loss) earnings per share
Basic net (loss) earnings per share before cumulative

effect of a change in accounting principle .......... $ (0.66) $ (2.28) $ 1.67
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . .. — (0.06) —
Basic net (loss) earnings per share . ................ $ (0.66) $ (234) $ 1.67
Shares used in computing basic net (loss) earnings per

share . . ... 5,148,000 5,173,000 5,140,000
Diluted net (loss) earnings per share before cumulative

effect of a change in accounting principle .......... $ (0.66) $ (2.28) § 1.67
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . .. — (0.06) —
Diluted net (loss) earnings per share. .. ............. $ (0.66) $ (2.34) $ 1.67
Shares used in computing diluted net (loss) earnings per

share . . ... . e 5,148,000 5,173,000 5,142,000

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TAB PRODUCTS CO. 3
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
May 31
2002 2001
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . . ................... e $ 82836,000 $ 5,872,000
Short-term INVestmeEnts . .. ... v it it it e e e e e e 2,313,000 2,965,000
Accounts receivable, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $867,0600 :
and $889,000 . . . . .. e 15,657,000 23,507,000 —
INVENtOTIES . . . v ottt e e e e e e 4,667,000 5,104,000 !
Income tax receivable . . .. .. ... .. e 2,809,000 4,764,000
Deferred Income taxes .. ... ..ottt e e 1,927,000 3,002,000
Prepaid expenses .. ....... .. e 1,144,000 1,548,000
Total current assets . . . v vttt e e e e 37,353,000 46,762,000
Property, plant and equipment, net .......... ... ... .. 5,975,000 7,516,000
Goodwill, et . . .ot e e e e 2,510,000 2,643,000
Deferred pension asset .. ......... .. i — 3,134,000 _
Deferred income taxes and other assets .. .............cvoivn.. 4,311,000 2,102,000
TOtal ASSEES . . v v e e e $ 50,149,000 $ 62,157,000
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities: -
Accounts payable . ... ... e $ 7,217,000 $ 10,816,000 N
Compensation payable .. ...... ... ... 1,738,000 2,290,000 -
Other accrued liabilities .. .........0. e 5,088,000 7,277,000
Total current liabilities . ... ... .. . . i e 14,043,000 20,383,000
Other noncurrent liabilities . .. ... ... ... . i e 2,003,000 1,271,000
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized—500,000 shares, issued—none . — —
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized—?25,000,000 shares,
Issued—2002—7,802,384 shares, 2001—7,742,137 shares. . .. .. ...... 78,000 77,000
Additional paid-in capital . .......... ... .. . 15,662,000 15,236,000
Stock subscriptions—notes receivable . . . ... ... ... L o (198,000) (397,000)
Retained earnings . . . . ... ...ttt e 54,584,000 57,974,000
Treasury stock, 2002—2,678,469 and 2001—2,535,969 shares .......... (32,452,000) (31,597,000)
- Accumulated other comprehensive loss:
Minimum pension liability . ...... ... ... ... ... (2,920,000) —
Translation adjustment . . . ... .. it e e - (651,000) (790,000)
Total stockholders’ equity ........ JR R 34,103,000 40,503,000
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . ... ......... [, $ 50,149,000 $ 62,157,000

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TAB PRODUCTS CQ.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Commeon Stock

Steck Accumulated

Number of
Shares

QOutstanding Amount

Additional Subscriptions- Other
Paid-in Notes

Capital Receivable

Retained

Earnings Treasury Stock Income (LLess)

Total

Cemprehensive Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

Balances, June 1, 1999 5,027,689

Net earnings . . . .. .......
Dividends, $.20 per share . . . .

Minimum pension liability
adjustment (net of
$1,738,000 tax)

Translation adjustment (net of
$134,000 tax)

Stock options exercised and tax
benefit on disqualified
common stock dispositions

5,000
207,500
(33,100)

Sale of treasury stock

Common stock repurchases . .

$76,000 $15,255,000

$ 63,031,000 $(32,320,000)  $(2,914,000)

8,574,000
(1,032,000)

2,381,000

(184,000)

30,000

1,000  $(1,374,000) 1,374,000

(218,000)

s 166000

$ 8,574,000

2,381,000

(184,000)

Balances, May 31, 2000 . . . . . 5,207,089

Netloss...............
Dividends, $.10 per share . . . .

Adjust treasury stock to
average cost. .. ........

Translation adjustment (net of
$41,000 tax) . . . ... ... ..

Common stock issued to Tax

Deferred Savings Plan . ... 146,579

Cancellation of stock

subscription . . ... ... ... (147,500)

Warrant issued

76,000 15,286,000  (1,374,000) 70,573,000  (31,164,000) (717,000)

(12,084,000)
(515,000)

(1,211,000) 1,211,000

(73,000)

1,000 290,000 194,000

861,000
10,000

977,000 (1,838,000)

$ 10,771,000

$(12,084,000)

(73,000)

5,206,168

Netloss...............

Translation adjustment (net of
$77,000 tax) . . .. .. ... ..

Minimum pension liability
adjustment (net of
$1,784,000 tax)

Common stock issued to Tax
Deferred Savings Plan . . . .

60,247

Common stock repurchases .. (112,500)

Cancellation of stock

subscription . . .. ....... (30,000)

77000 15236000  (397,000) 57,974,000 (31,597,000) (790,000)

(3,390,000)

139,000

(2,920,000)

1,000 251,000
(481,000)

175,000

199,000 (374,000)

512,157,000

$ (3,390,000

139,000

(2,920,000)

Balances, May 31, 2002 . . . .. 5,123,915

$78,000 $15,662,000

$ (198,000) $ 54,584,000 $(32,452,000)  $(3,571,000)

$ (6,171,000)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TAB PRODUCTS CO.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

Year Ended May 31

LhiL] LL Pl fhdap b

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (loss)earnings . ... ........o oo,

2002

2001

2000

$(3,390,000) $(12,084,000) $ 8,574,000

3 Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . . . . . — 330,000 —
-3 Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) earnings to net cash
= flows from operating activities:
é Depreciation and amortization . .................... 2,724,000 9,170,000 4,006,000
3 Deferred income taxes . ......... ... ..., 392,000 (2,518,000) (904,000)
3 Gain on sale of business unit. . .. ................... — — (7,967,000
‘Eﬂ’ Gainonsale of property . . ............. ... .. ... .. — (1,119,000)  (7,462,000)
- Issuance of common stock to Tax Deferred Savings Plan . . . 252,000 495,000 —
= Other ...ttt 28,000 (17,000) 159,000
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of
j acquisition:
e Accounts receivable, net ... ...... ... .. ..., 7,850,000 4,935,000 (3,411,000)
: ;jj INVentOTICS .« o o v e it e e e 437,000 2,316,000 (319,000)
B = Income tax receivable . . .. ....... ... ... .. ... 1,955,000 (4,764,000) —_
s Prepaid eXpenses .. ... ... ...ttt 404,000 13,000 480,000
B Deferred pension asset . .. ...ty 214,000 (1,346,000) (1,788,000)
3 Deferred taxes and otherassets. .. .................. (1,526,000) 228,000 3,443,000
A Accounts payable .. ........ ... ... . (3,599,000) 792,000 2,170,000
*é Compensation payable . ............... ... ...... (552,000) (508,000) 731,000
o Other accrued liabilities .. ........................ (1,457,000) 1,161,000  (10,976,000)
i Net cash flows from operating activities . . ... .......... 3,732,000 (2,916,000)  (13,264,000)
= INVESTING ACTIVITIES
-3 Purchases of property, plant and equipment . . .. ........ (1,110,000)  (1,536,000)  (2,865,000)
S Purchase of operating assets of Docucon, Inc. .......... — — (5,330,000)
i Saleof property . ... ... . e — 2,900,000 17,803,000
e Sale of business unit . . . .. ... — — 13,405,000
= Sale of other property, plant and equipment ........... 32,000 83,000 78,000
:j Purchases of short-term investments ................. (2,514,000) (5,997,000) (7,006,000)
fg Sales of short-term investments . .. .................. 3,166,000 8,202,000 4,777,000
4::1‘ Net cash flows from investing activities ............... (426,000) 3,652,000 20,862,000
B FINANCING ACTIVITIES
= Repayment of debt . . . . oo oo ee e — —  (7,390,000)
T Issuance of common stock. . ...... ... ... ... ... — — 31,000
% Purchase of treasury stock. . . ............ ... . ... .. (481,000) — (218,000)
E Dividends paid . . ... ... .. o i i i i — (515,000)  (1,032,000)
' j Net cash flows from financing activities ... ............ (481,000) (515,000)  (8,609,000)
q Effect of exchange rate changesoncash .............. 139,000 (73,000) (237,000)
3 Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ........ 2,964,000 148,000 (1,248,000)
3 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ......... 5,872,000 5,724,000 6,972,000
E% Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . . ... ......... $ 8,836,000 $ 5,872,000 $ 5,724,000
= See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TAB PRODUCTS CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of business—The Company operates in a single industry that manufactures and markets
document management solutions, including services and products. The Company sells its offerings to,
among other entities, government, insurance, finance and healthcare organizations. The Company was
incorporated in February 1954, and subsequently reorganized as a corporation under Delaware law in
September 1986.

As of July 29, 2002, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement with T Acquisition Co. and
T Acquisition L.P, affiliates of HS Morgan Limited Partnership, pursuant to which T Acquisition Co.
will merge with and into the Company. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, each share of the
Company’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive $5.85 per share in cash, or total
consideration of approximately $34 million, including outstanding stock options. The merger is expected
to close in the fourth calendar quarter of 2002. Consummation of the transaction is subject to the
approval of the Company’s stockholders, receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals, the buyer
entering into definitive financing agreements and certain other conditions. The Merger Agreement was
filed on July 29, 2002 as an exhibit to a Current Report on Form 8-K.

The Company’s business strategy is to provide significant expertise in the records management
market, while offering services and products that provide complete solutions. The Company markets to
its customers through multiple channels of distribution to achieve broad market coverage for all sized
accounts, in the U.S,, Canada, Europe and Australia. The Company has manufacturing facilities in the
U.S. and Canada. Approximately 76% of the Company’s revenue comes from the U.S. operation and
24% comes from the international businesses.

The Company provides complete solutions that enable its customers to better organize, control and
access their critical documents. By leveraging its 50 years of expertise in managing paper records and
files, the Company can also effectively support those clients who wish to integrate their paper-based
systems into emerging technologies.

The Company’s principal products and services include:
1} Filing Systems and Supplies
2) Document Management Software
3) Multimedia Storage & Furniture
4) Professional Consulting Services
5) Imaging Services
6) OEM Products

The Company’s products are marketed in the United States, Canada, Europe and Australia
through its sales branches, independent sales offices and distributors (“Channel Partners”), and
telesales groups. The Company utilizes multiple distribution channels to achieve the broadest market
coverage for small, mid- and large-sized customers. The Company also uses inbound and outbound
telesales in addition to catalogs to reach its customer base. The benefits provided by the direct sales
organization are its national coverage, sales control and low variable costs. The benefits of the
independent dealers are their speed to market and low fixed cost.
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TAB PRODUCTS CQ.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Description of Business and Summary of Sigmificant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Company recently expanded its telesales organization to reach customers that cannot be
cost-effectively served by the Company’s direct sales force or Channel Partners. The benefits of this
channel include low fixed and variable costs and the ability of service remote or widely distributed
customers.

The Company is developing the Internet as an additional channel. This will include expanding web
site capabilities to offer its user base a larger range of online ordering and service opportunities.

The Company has three foreign subsidiaries, which market their products and services in Canada,
Australia and Europe, while foreign sales in the remainder of the world are conducted through a
Foreign Sales Corporation.

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned. Intercompany transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as of the dates
and for the periods presented. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Such estimates include
the allowance for doubtful accounts, restructuring reserves, inventory reserves and recoverability of
deferred tax assets.

Translation of Foreign Currencies—Operations of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are measured
using the local currency as the functional currency for each subsidiary. Assets and liabilities of the
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect as of the balance
sheet dates, and results of operations for each subsidiary are translated using the average rates in effect
for the periods presented. Translation adjustments are reported as a separate component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are
included in net earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents include highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of
three months or less.

Short-term Investments represent debt securities, which are stated at fair value. The difference
between amortized cost (cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts which
are recognized as adjustments to interest income) and fair value representing unrealized holding gains
or losses, if material, are recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity until realized.
While the Company’s intent is to hold debt securities to maturity, they are classified as
available-for-sale because the sale of such securities may occur prior to maturity. Any gains and losses
on the sale of debt securities are determined on a specific identification basis.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost of merchandise inventories purchased
for resale is determined on the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method for domestic inventories, which was
approximately $0.5 million and $0.7 million at May 31, 2002 and May 31, 2001, respectively. Cost of the
remainder of the inventories is determined on the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. Costs included in
inventories consist of materials, labor and manufacturing overhead, which are related to the purchase
and production of inventories.
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1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment, including significant improvements to existing facilities, are stated at
cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
related assets, which are as follows: Land improvements 10-30 years; buildings 20-50 years; machinery
and equipment 3-15 years; furniture and fixtures 3-10 years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated
over the shorter of their useful lives or the term of the lease. The Company evaluates its long-lived
assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an asset may not be recoverable based on projected undiscounted cash flows associated with the
affected assets. If the fair value is less than the carrying amount of the asset, a loss is recognized for
the difference. Fair value is determined based on market quotes, if available, or is based on valuation
techniques. Expenditures for renewals, replacements and improvements are capitalized. Maintenance
and repairs are charged to operating expenses as incurred.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets of
acquired businesses. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over periods not exceeding 25 years.
Goodwill amortization amounted to $150,000, $4,832,000 and $259,000 in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. At May 31, 2001 the
Company wrote-off the remaining goodwill from the acquisition of its imaging services subsidiary in the
amount of $3.7 million due to its impairment. Such impairment write-off is included in the goodwill
amortization for fiscal 2001. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, the Company will cease amortization of goodwill as
of June 1, 2002.

Revenue Recognition—Revenues on product sales are recognized upon product shipment when risk
of loss and title transfer, except mobile filing equipment. Revenue related to mobile filing equipment
requiring installation is recognized upon completion of such installation. Revenue related to
professional services is recognized upon completion of such services. Imaging services revenues are
recognized on a percentage of completion method. Equipment service and software support contract
revenues are recognized ratably over the contractual period or as the services are performed.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs—In September 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued
EITF 00-10, Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs (“EITF 00-10”). EITF 00-10
requires shipping and handling fees billed to customers to be classified as revenue and the classification
of shipping and handling costs to be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements if
they are not classified as cost of sales. The Company includes shipping and handling fees billed to
customers in revenues, net of the related shipping and handling costs. Shipping and handling costs
included as a reduction to revenues totaled $4.7 million, $5.4 million and $6.8 million for fiscal 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

Treasury Stock—Shares of the Company that are repurchased are treated as Treasury stock and are
accounted for under the cost method.

Research and Development Costs—The Company’s research and development activities are
primarily related to the development of new products and services in the document management area
and the improvement of existing products in the mobile storage, high-speed mailing, forms handling
equipment and furniture areas. Expenditures for research and development were $0.5 million,
$0.7 million and $0.9 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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TAB PRODUCTS CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income Taxes—Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between financial
statements and income tax reporting, in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes.”

Stock-based Compensation—The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the
intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.”

Concentrations of Credit Risk—Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to a
concentration of credit risk, principally consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and
trade accounts receivable. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments with what it believes are high credit quality financial institutions. The Company sells its
products primarily to companies in North America, Europe and Australia. The Company maintains
reserves for potential credit losses, but historically has not experienced any significant losses related to
individual customers or groups of customers in any particular industry or geographic area.

Reclassifications—Certain reclassifications have been made to the fiscal 2001 and 2000 financial
statements to conform to the fiscal 2002 presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements—In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”,
as amended by SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—
Deferral of the Effective Date of SFAS No. 133,” and SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activites.” This statement requires companies to record
derivatives on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities, measured at fair value. Gains or losses resulting
from changes in the values of those derivatives would be accounted for depending on the use of the
derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133 on
June 1, 2001. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have a material impact on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” which provides guidance
related to revenue recognition based on interpretations and practices followed by the SEC and was
effective the first fiscal quarter of fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1999. SAB No. 101
requires companies to report any changes in revenue recognition as a cumulative change in accounting
principle at the time of implementation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting

Changes.” Subsequently, SAB Nos. 101A and 101B were issued to delay the implementation of SAB
No. 101.

After evaluation of the Company’s revenue recognition policies compared to the guidance in SAB
No. 101, the Company changed its accounting policy for revenue from mobile file storage equipment.
Adoption of the change in accounting in fiscal 2001 resulted in revenue being recorded only after
installation of the equipment on customer premises rather than upon shipment, thus postponing
revenue recognition by an average of two months. The cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle was $0.3 miliion.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” which eliminates the
pooling of interests method of accounting for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001
and addresses the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets acquired
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1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

in a business combination. The Company adopted SEAS No. 141 for business combinations initiated
after June 30, 2001.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset” which
addresses the initial recognition and measurement of intangible assets acquired outside of a business
combination and the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition.
SFAS No. 142 provides that intangible assets with finite useful lives be amortized and that goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives will not be amortized, but will rather be tested at least annually
for impairment. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 142 on June 1, 2002. Upon adoption of SFAS
No. 142, the Company will stop the amortization of goodwill that resulted from business combinations
initiated prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 141. The Company evaluated goodwill under the SFAS
No. 142 transitional impairment test and has determined that there will not be an impairment loss.

The Company will adopt SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” effective June 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting
for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,”
and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of
Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,” for the disposal of a segment of a business (as
previously defined in that Opinion). Although the Company has not completed its assessment, it does
not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 144 to have a material effect on the consolidated financial
position or results of operations of the Company.

2. Short-Term Investmemnts

The Company’s short-term investments have been classified as available-for-sale securities. The fair
value of available-for-sale securities at May 31, 2002 and May 31, 2001 are presented below.
Available-for-sale securities are classified as current assets and generally mature within three months.
The amortized cost of the investment securities approximates fair market value and unrealized holding
gains and losses were not material for any periods presented.

May 31
2002 2001
Corporate obligations . . . .. ......... ... ... ...... $1,105,000 $2,269,000
U.S. Government obligations .. .................... 1,208,000 696,000

$2,313,000 $2,965,000
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3. Inventories

Cibb i bbb ke g

- May 31

- 2002 2001

- Rawmaterials ... ... .. . . i $2,867,000 $3,389,000 —
WOTK 10 PIOCESS .« v oot et ettt e e e s 348,000 272,000 .
Finished goods. . . ... oo 1,697,000 1,821,000
LIFO re8erve . . oottt it e e e e e e (245,000)  (378,000)

$4,667,000 $5,104,000

The change in the LIFO inventory reserve increased earnings before income taxes by $133,000 and
$140,000 in fiscal 2002 and 2001, respectively and decreased earnings before income taxes by $42,000 in
fiscal 2000.

4, Property, Plant and Equipment

May 31
2002 2001

Land and improvements . . .. ................... $ 366,000 $ 366,000
Buildings and improvements . .. ................. 7,001,000 6,985,000
Machinery and equipment . ................. ... 16,753,000 17,308,000
Furniture and fixtures. .. ............. ... ...... 9,324,000 9,300,000
Leasehold improvements . ..................... 458,000 473,000

33,902,000 34,432,000
Accumulated depreciation. . . ...... ... .o L. (27,927,000) (26,916,000)

$ 5975000 $ 7,516,000

copd g bbbl bbb et b bt g g

5. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Line of Credit
The Company had no long-term debt outstanding as of May 31, 2002 and May 31, 2001.

. |
PhEg e bl obidio bt npn

As of May 31, 2002, the Company has a secured revolving line of credit of $5 million with a bank
that will expire on October 31, 2002. In connection with the line of credit, the Company granted to the
bank a continuing security interest in all accounts receivable, inventory, equipment and intangibles.
Borrowings are available at the prime rate plus one-half percent. The Company had no borrowings
outstanding under this line as of May 31, 2002. Under the line of credit, the Company must maintain
certain financial covenants including a minimum level of tangible net worth, a minimum quick asset
ratio and a minimum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth. The Company was in compliance
with all of the financial covenants at May 31, 2002.

The Company’s Australian subsidiary has a $169,000 overdraft facility with a bank and has granted
to the bank a security interest in all of its assets. Borrowings are available at the bank’s reference rate
plus margin plus 4%. There were no borrowings outstanding under this facility at May 31, 2002.

bbb l;l.‘i;i; £ iﬂmtt

Cash paid for interest which approximates interest expense was $14,000, $20,000 and $615,000 for
fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Interest paid includes the commitment fee on the Company’s

P ﬂ Lhibibbedassiotite
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5. Long-Term Debt and Reveolving Line of Credit (Continued)

line of credit in the amounts of $13,000, $11,000 and $56,000 for fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

6. Other Accrued Liabilities

May 31
2002 2001
Payroll and related benefits ....................... $2,195,000 $2,253,000
Amount due to independent salesreps .. ............. 1,013,000 1,555,000
Other ... .. 1,880,000 3,469,000

$5,088,000 $7,277,000

7. Income Taxes

The (benefit) provision for income taxes is comprised of the following:

Year Ended May 31

2002 2001 2000

Current:
Federal .. ........ ... ... ... ... ..... $(2,376,000) $(4,566,000) $4,970,000
State . ... .. (90,000) — 1,480,000
Foreign .......... ... ... .. ... .. ..., 183,000 472,000 726,000

$(2,283,000)  (4,094,000) 7,176,000
Deferred: :
Federal ......... ... ... ... . ... ... .. 306,000  (1,392,000) (711,000)
State ..o 49,000  (1,156,000) (176,000)
Foreign ......... ... ... ... .. 37,000 30,000 (17,000)

392,000  (2,518,000)  (904,000)
$(1,891,000) $(6,612,000) $6,272,000

The reconciliation between the Federal statutory rate and the Company’s effective tax rate is as

follows:

2002 2003 2000
Federal income taxes at statutory rate ................ 350% 350% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit.............. 0.5 4.1 4.8
Non-deductible goodwill .. ....... ... .. ... ... ..... (1.3) (0.4) 0.6
FOoreign taxes ... ..., (0.4) 0.4 1.6
Other. ... ... . 2.0 3.1 0.2
Effective taxrate ......... ... 35.8% 36.0% 42.2%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of (a) temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
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:i 7. Income Taxes (Continued)
3 purposes, and (b) operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. The tax effects of significant items
3 comprising the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
May 31
i 2002 2001
E Deferred tax assets
g Post-retirement benefit obligation .................. $ 544,000 $ 517,000
j Reserves not currently deductible. . .............. ... 1,158,000 1,355,000
= Vacationaccrual . ......... ... .. ... .. .. . . ... 329,000 340,000
é Allowance for doubtful accounts . .................. 330,000 402,000
E Pension benefit. ... ... ... ... ... .. ... .. ... 267,000 —
ﬁ Unrealized foreign exchange losses . ................ 651,000 790,000
= Goodwill . ... ... ... 1,726,000 1,869,000
4,}:;‘ Differences between book and tax basis of property ... .. 200,000 58,000
:j Net operating loss carryforward:
ks Federal . .. .. ... . . 65,000 383,000
= State . . e 968,000 863,000
3 AMT and foreign tax credit carryforward . .. .......... 475,000 —_
Valuation allowance ................c.cvcvren.n.. (120,000) —
j Other. . ..o e 128,000 —

6,721,000 6,577,000

Deferred tax liabilities

Pension obligation . ............uiiiiiiia .. —  (1,273,000)
j Other. . .o e e (674,000) (448,000)
= (674,000)  (1,721,000)
E Net deferred tax @ssetS « v v v v vt et e et e $6,047,000 $ 4,856,000
—
= May 31
— 2002 2001 - -
~:4‘:; Net deferred tax assets comprised the following: -
= CUITENE ASSELS & o v v v v e e e e e e e $1,927,600 $3,002,000 \
R Non-current assets . . ..o v v it ittt e 4,240,000 1,854,000
~= Valuation allowance . . .............. ... ... .. .. (120,000) —
—33 Net deferred tax assets . . . .. ..o oorurneenennnnn... $6,047,000  $4,856,000
15; The Company has not provided for income taxes on undistributed earnings of certain foreign
pe subsidiaries, which the Company intends to reinvest indefinitely. The Company has provided for a
j‘ deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $120,000, all of which arose during the current year. A
i valuation allowance has been provided where it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets
3’ relating to certain loss carryforwards will not be realized. Cash paid (received) for income taxes, net of
,?:' refunds, was: $(3.8 million), $(0.7 million) and $7.0 million in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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7. Income Taxes (Comtimued)

The state net operating loss benefit is carried forward from 5 to 20 years depending on the state
jurisdiction. '

On March 9, 2002, President Bush signed into law H.R. 3090, the “Job Creation and Worker
Assistance Act of 2002.” The Act allows for additional federal depreciation expense for specific asset
acquisitions purchased by the Company after September 10, 2001. Additionally, the Act increases the
carryback period of federal net operating losses generated in tax years ending in 2001 and 2002 from
two years to five years. The Company previously filed a claim to carryback the losses generated in fiscal
2001 to the two previous tax years. As a result of the Act, the Company has elected to amend the
originally filed claim to carryback the losses generated in fiscal 2001 to the five previous tax years. The
Company has also elected to carryback the losses generated in fiscal 2002 to the five previous years.
The refund from both carryback claims is reported in the income tax receivable balance.

8. Employee Benefit Plans
Pension Plan

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension plan for certain domestic employees. Plan
benefits are based on compensation and length of service and provide for normal retirement at age 65.
The Company’s policy is to make annual contributions to the pension plan between the ERISA
minimum and the maximum tax-deductible amount allowed.

In fiscal 1999, the Company suspended the defined benefit pension plan to limit both new
participation and further pension credit for current participants. The result of the suspension is that
after March 31, 1999, no new participants have been eligible to join the plan. Also, after March 31,
1999, active participants in the plan do not receive any further pension benefit credits. Active
participants in the plan as of March 31, 1999, will be eligible, upon retirement, to receive a pension
based upon the pension credits they have earned through March 31, 1999,

In fiscal 2002 and 2001, the Company paid benefits to 47 and 107 terminated vested participants,
respectively, in the form of lump sum payments, which resulted in a settlement loss of approximately
$45,000 and $93,000, respectively.

On May 31, 2002, the Company’s defined benefit pension plan assets were $0.7 million lower than
the benefit obligation. In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”, a
non-cash charge to equity of $2.9 million, net of tax benefits of $1.8 million, was recorded.

The plan’s assets are invested in short-term money market instruments, fixed income securities and
equities.
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3 The following table sets forth the plan’s funded status:

;‘; 2002 2001 f
;; Changes in Benefit Obligation:

B 5 Benefit obligation at beginning of year.............. $25,191,000  $23,900,000
e SEIVICE COSE v v e it i e — —
= Interest COSt . .o v vttt i e e 1,868,000 1,812,000
% Settlements . .......... i s (62,000) (136,000)

- Actuarial 10ss . . . . ... 413,000 175,000
ﬁﬂ Assumption change . . ......... ... ... L L 1,290,000 829,000
_ Benefits paid . ........ ... (1,378,000)  (1,389,000)
13 Benefit obligation atend of year .. ................ 27,322,000 25,191,000
*% Changes in Plan Assets: -
= Fair value at beginning of year ................... 30,412,000 31,914,000
] Actual return on planassets .. ....... ... ... (2,260,000) 148,000
:3 SEttIEMENTS . . v\t e e (111,000) (261,000)
3 Benefits paid . ... ..... ... (1,378,000)  (1,389,000)
j Fair value atendofyear . . .. .................... 26,663,000 30,412,000
3 Fundedstatus............. .. ... (659,000) 5,221,000
3 Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain) . ... ............. 4,704,000  (2,087,000)
i Net amount recognized . . ... ... .. $ 4,045,000 $ 3,134,000
j (Accrued) prepaid benefitcost ................... $ (659,000) $ 3,134,000
= Accrued benefit liability . ............ ... ... ... .. — —
- Accumulated other comprehensive income . . ......... 4,704,000 —
5 Net amount recognized . . . ........ ... ... ... .. $ 4,045,000 $ 3,134,000
A% 2002 2001
e Weighted-average assumptions as of May 31:
Discount rate . . ... o i it e 7.25% 7.50%
Expected return on assets . . .............covoon.. 9.50% 9.50%
Rate of compensation increase ................... N/A N/A
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Net periodic pension income was $910,000, $1,347,000 and $152,000 for fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, and included the following components.

2002 2001 2000
Components of net periodic pension
income:

Service cost. . .. ..o $ — 3 — 3 —
Interest cOSt ... ... 1,868,000 1,812,000 1,771,000
Expected return on plan assets. . .. ...... (2,823,000) (2,966,000) (2,134,000)
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss . ... .. — (286,000) 211,000
Settlement loss . .................... 45,000 93,000 —
Net periodic pension income . .......... $ (910,000) $(1,347,000) $ (152,000)

401(k) Plan

The Company provides a 401(k) Plan (tax deferred savings plan) for its domestic employees. The
plan provides that the Company make contributions in either cash or common stock, at its option,
equal to 50% of contributions made by participating employees up to a maximum of 3% of employee’s
salary. The plan also provides for additional Company contributions up to a maximum of 75% of
participating employees’ contributions, for each fiscal year in which net earnings are 5% or more of
revenues. Company contributions charged to earnings were $416,000, $597,000 and $820,000 for fiscal
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Certain additional transitional contributions were made to employee
accounts for eligible plan participants as of March 31, 1999 during fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000 in the
amounts of $34,000, $62,000 and $130,000, respectively.

Postretirement Plan

The Company has a plan that provides certain health care benefits for all of its domestic retired
employees who meet certain age and service requirements while working for the Company. Generally,
Company-provided health care coverage is coordinated with Medicare upon the retiree reaching the
age of 65.

In fiscal 2001, the plan was amended to increase the eligibility age over the next few years from
age 60 and 10 years of service beginning in fiscal 2002 to age 65 and 10 years of service beginning in
fiscal 2005.

Net postretirement benefit cost was $319,000, $204,000 and $301,000 for fiscal 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The Company’s postretirement health care plans are not funded.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Centinued)

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation:

May 31
2002 2001
Changes in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ............... $1,820,000 $2,117,000
SEIVICE COSE . o o vttt e e e e e 99,000 65,000
Interest CoSt ... ..ot 181,000 131,000
Actuarial 108s. . . . ... e 722,000 31,000
Amendment change . .............oiinee. .. — (347,000)
Assumption change ........... .. ... .. i, 70,000 44,000
Benefits paid . . ... .. .. . (246,000)  (221,000)
Benefit obligations atend of year ................... 2,646,000 1,820,000
Unrecognized prior service Cost . ................... 340,000 367,000
Unrecognized net actuarial loss. . . ............ ... ... (1,642,000)  (916,000)
Accrued postretirement benefit cost . ................ $1,344,000 $1,271,000
Net postretirement benefit cost consisted of the following components:
2002 2001 2000

SErvice COSt . . v i $ 99,000 $ 65,000 $106,000
Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation . . ........ ... . ... ... 181,000 131,000 151,000
Net amortization and deferrals . .............. 39,000 8,000 44,000
Net postretirement benefit cost . .............. $319,000 $204,000 $301,000

The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation as of June 1, 2001 was 10% decreasing linearly each successive year until it reaches 5% in
2006, after which it will remain constant. A one-percentage-point increase in the assumed health care
cost trend rates in fiscal 2002 would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, service
cost and interest cost components of the net periodic postretirement benefit cost by approximately
$161,000, $23,000 and $20,000, respectively. The impact of a 1% decrease in the trend rates in fiscal
2002 would decrease these components by approximately $134,000, $18,000 and $16,000, respectively.
The assumed discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was
7.25% for fiscal 2002 and 7.50% for fiscal 2001.

9. Stock Option Plans, Stock Purchase Right Plan, Leveraged Stock Purchase Plan, Warrants and
Stock Repurchase Plan

Under the 1991 Employee Stock Option Plan (the “1991 Option Plan”), the Company may grant
options to purchase shares of common stock to employees at prices not less than the fair market value
of a share of stock at the date of grant for incentive stock options and not less than 85% of fair market
value of a share of stock for non-statutory stock options. The options generally expire 10 years from
the date of grant. The options generally become exercisable 25% per year over a 4-year period for
those options granted prior to fiscal 1999 and, for those options granted thereafter, 37%2% of the grant
becomes exercisable 18 months after the date of grant with the remainder becoming exercisable ratably
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9, Stock Option Plans, Stock Purchase Right Plan, Leveraged Stock Purchase Plan, Warrants and
Stock Repurchase Plan (Continued)

by quarter so as to be fully exercisable 5 years from the date of grant. The 1991 Option Plan expired
on March 21, 2001, and no further options may be granted from the plan after that date.

Under the 1996 Qutside Directors Option Plan, (the “Directors Plan™), an option to purchase
10,000 shares of common stock of the Company is automatically granted to each outside director at the
date of appointment as a director. This option is granted at the fair market value of a share of stock on
the date of grant, expires 10 years from the date of grant and becomes exercisable 25% per year over a
4-year period. Also under the Directors Plan, outside directors of the Company are automatically
granted additional options annually to purchase 2,000 shares of common stock of the Company at the
fair market value of a share of stock on the date of grant for each year that such person remains a
director of the Company. The grant date is the date of the Annual Stockholders Meeting. Annual
options granted under the Directors Plan are exercisable on the date preceding the next Annual
Stockholders meeting after the date of grant. The options expire 10 years from the date of grant. All
options issued under the Directors Plan are non-qualified options.

On December 14, 2000, an option to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock of the Company
was granted to the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer. The option was granted outside
of the Company’s 1991 Option Plan. The option was granted at the fair market value of a share of
stock on the date of grant ($2.125). The option expires 10 years from the date of grant and becomes
exercisable in four annual installments commencing one year after the grant date.

On April 18, 2001, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the 2001 Nonstatutory Stock
Option Plan (the “2001 Nonstatutory Option Plan”). Under the 2001 Nonstatutory Option Plan,
options to purchase shares of common stock may be granted at a price that is not less than 85% of the
fair market value of a share of stock on the date of grant. The options generally become exercisable at
a rate of 37%2% 18 months after the date of grant with the remainder becoming exercisable ratably by
quarter so as to be fully exercisable S years from the date of grant. The options expire 10 years from
the date of grant.

On October 16, 2001, the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Option Plan”) was approved by the
Company’s stockholders. Under the 2001 Option Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase
shares of common stock to employees at prices not less than the fair market value of a share of stock
on the date of grant. The options generally expire 10 years from the date of grant. The options
generally become exercisable at a rate of 25% one year after the date of grant with the remainder
becoming exercisable at a rate of 6.25% over the next 12 quarters so as to be fully exercisable 4 years
from the date of grant. As of May 31, 2002, no options had been granted to employees under the 2001
Option Plan.
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9. Stock Option Plans, Stock Purchase Right Plan, Leveraged Stock Purchase Plan, Warrants and
Stock Repurchase Plan (Continued)

Activity under the option plans is as follows:

Number of Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price

Qutstanding, June 1, 1999 (282,875 exercisable at

weighted average price of $791) . .. ...... ... ..., 655,625 $8.84
Granted (weighted average fair value of $1.93) ... ..... 43,000 5.62
Exercised ... ..... e e e (5,000) 6.00
Canceled ....... ... .. i (19,875) 7.75
Outstanding, May 31, 2000 (396,245 exercisable at
weighted average price of $8.50)............... .. 673,750 8.69
Granted (weighted average fair value of $1.46) ........ 692,000 2.87
Exercised ... ... .. — —
Canceled . ... ... i (509,625) 8.28
QOutstanding, May 31, 2001 (227,927 exercisable at
= weighted average price of $7.20) . ................ 856,125 423
4 Granted (weighted average fair value of $2.20) ... ... .. 93,000 4.10
A3 Exercised . ... oo — —_—
Canceled ......... . ... .. i (151,375) 6.83
Qutstanding, May 31, 2002 (292,914 exercisable at
weighted average price of $4.94) ... .. ....... ... .. 797,750 3.72

Additional information regarding options outstanding as of May 31, 2002 is as follows:

|

Lebibb e b

- Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
- Weighted Avg. -
- Remaining ‘
- Number Contractual Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg. -

—: Exercise Range of Prices  Qutstanding Life (yrs.) Exercise Price = Number Exercisable Exercise Price 3

— $2.13 303,000 8.5 $2.13 78,000 $2.13
) ‘i $2.63 - $3.50 195,000 8.5 3.28 44,372 3.13

“3 $3.60 - $6.00 178,000 8.0 4.36 53,258 5.14

? $6.25 - $11.88 111,750 4.4 7.02 109,517 7.03

= $12.50 10,000 6.1 12.50 7,767 12.50

i $2.13 - $12.50 797,750 7.8 3.72 292,914 4.94

5 At May 31, 2002, 250,000, 93,000 and 50,000 shares were available for future grants under the 2001

E Option Plan, Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan and Directors Plan, respectively.

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” requires the disclosure of pro forma
net income and earnings per share. Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of stock-based awards to
employees is calculated through the use of option pricing models, even though such models were
developed to estimate the fair value of freely tradable, fully transferable options without vesting
restrictions, which significantly differ from the Company’s stock option awards.
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9. Stock Option Plans, Stock Purchase Right Plan, Leveraged Stock Purchase Plan, Warrants and
Stock Repurchase Plan (Continued)

These models also require subjective assumptions, including future stock price volatility and
expected time to exercise, which greatly affect the calculated values. The Company’s calculations were
made using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2002 2001 2000

Risk-free interestrate . . .. ..., 4.66% 5.18% 7.44%
Dividendyield ....... ... .. ... i 0% 0% 25%
Volatility factor . ...... ... . ... 53.6% 47.4% 40.9%
Expected life (in months following vesting) ............. 12 12 12

The Company’s calculations are based on a multiple option valuation approach and forfeitures are
recognized as they occur. If the computed fair values of the awards had been amortized to expense
over the vesting period of the awards, pro forma net (loss) earnings would have been (in thousands,
except per share data):

2002 2001 2000
Net (Loss) Earnings
AsReported. ........ ... ... ... $(3,390) $(12,084) $8,574
ProForma ........ ..., (3,620) (11,970) 8,347
Basic and Diluted (Loss) Earnings Per Share
AsReported. .. ....... 0. $ (0.66) $ (2.34) $ 167
ProForma ........... ... .. ... ... ... ... (0.70) (231) 1.62

In October 1996, the Company declared a dividend of one Preferred Stock Purchase Right
(“Right”) for each outstanding share of common stock. The Right entitles a stockholder to purchase
one one-hundredth of a share of preferred stock at $35 per Right exercisable after a person acquires
15% or more of the Company’s common stock or announces a tender offer which could result in such
person owning 15% or more of the common stock. Each one one-hundredth of a share of preferred
stock has terms designed to make it substantially the economic equivalent of one share of common
stock. Under certain circumstances, if a person acquires 15% or more of the common stock, the Rights
permit the holders to purchase the Company’s common stock having a market value of twice the
exercise price of the Rights, in lieu of the preferred stock. In addition, in the event of certain business
combinations, the Rights permit purchase of the common stock of an acquiring person at a 50%
discount. Rights held by an acquiring person will become null and void in both cases. The Rights are
subject to redemption by the Company’s Board of Directors for $.001 for each Right. The Rights expire
on October 23, 2006.

In September 2001, the Rights agreement was amended so that stock purchase rights issued
thereunder will be triggered if, without prior Board of Directors approval, a person or group becomes
the beneficial owner of 20% of the Company’s outstanding shares (the previous trigger level of the
rights was 15%). The amendment also confirmed that the act of participating in a demand for a special
meeting of stockholders will not by itself trigger the rights.

Effective July 29, 2002, the Rights agreement was amended to make the provisions of the Rights
agreement, as amended, inapplicable to the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement
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TAB PRODUCTS CQ.
NQOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

9. Stock Option Plans, Stock Purchase Right Plan, Leveraged Stock Purchase Plan, Warrants amd
Stock Repurchase Plan (Continued)

entered into among T Acquisition L.P. and T Acquisition Co. and the Company. See Note 19,
“Subsequent Event” for additional information on the Merger Agreement.

In October 1999, the Company implemented a Leveraged Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan™) with
certain executive officers and key employees of the Company. The Plan allows an employee to borrow
funds from the Company to acquire a specified number of common shares. An equivalent number of
shares of common stock were also granted to each individual. The stock grant vests after three years.
All certificates are held by the Company as collateral against the notes receivable. The note and
accrued interest will be forgiven after three years, if the employee continues employment with the
Company during that period. The Company used 207,500 shares of Treasury Stock to implement the
Plan. The stock subscriptions-notes receivable related to the stock grants are offset in Stockholders’

Equity.

Effective July 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to 300,000
shares of the Company’s Common Stock. During fiscal 2000, the Company repurchased 33,100 shares
for $218,000. The Company did not renew the stock repurchase program, which expired in July 2000.

On December 14, 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the issuance of a warrant for
13,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock to a recruiting firm in exchange for its services. The
exercise price is $2.125, the closing price for the Company’s Common Stock on the date of issuance.
The warrant is immediately exercisable and expires on January 1, 2004. The warrant had not been
exercised as of May 31, 2002. The estimated fair value of the warrant of $10,000 was recorded as an
expense in fiscal 2001,

Effective September 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to
10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s Common Stock. During fiscal 2002, the
Company repurchased 112,500 shares for $481,000 between September 2001 and January 2002. The
Company did not repurchase any shares after January 17, 2002. The stock repurchase program will
expire on September 16, 2002.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has been involved from time to time in various litigation and product liability
matters arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the final outcome of any unresolved
matters cannot be determined, it is management’s opinion that the final resolution of these matters will
not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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16. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

The Company and its subsidiaries are obligated under leases for real and personal property
expiring at various dates through 2007. The future minimum rental payments under these lease
agreements at May 31, 2002 are as follows:

2003. ... ... ... $2,844,000
2004.......... 2,247,000
2005.. ..., 1,343,000
2006.......... 499,000
2007 ... ... 26,000

$6,959,000

Total.rentals charged to expense amounted to $3.1 million, $3.4 million and $3.1 million in fiscal
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

11. Major Customer

No single customer accounted for greater than 10% of consolidated revenues in fiscal 2002, 2001
or 2000. One customer accounted for approximately 10% of the outstanding accounts receivable
balance as of May 31, 2002. No single customer accounted for greater than 10% of the outstanding
accounts receivable balance as of May 31, 2001.

12. Segmemnt Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or chief
decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Chief
Executive Officer is the Company’s chief decision maker. The Company operates and is managed
internally by four geographic operating segments. The operating segments include United States,
Canada, the Netherlands and Australia. Outside the United States, each operating segment has a
general manager who reports to the Vice President, International, who reports to the Chief Executive
Officer. Within the United States, the individuals responsible for operations, marketing and sales report
directly to the Chief Executive Officer.

Information about segments for the years ended May 31:

2002 2001 2000
Revenues:
United States .. ............... $ 80,798,000 $ 91,564,000 $105,549,000
Canada . ..................... 19,368,000 22,127,000 20,198,000
Netherlands. . ................. 3,177,000 4,408,000 5,019,000
Auvstralia . . .......... .. ..., 3,367,000 3,929,000 3,760,000
Elimination of intersegment revenue . (2,763,000) (3,506,000) (3,958,000)
Consolidated Total . . .. .......... $103,947,000 $118,522,000 $130,568,000
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TAB PRODUCTS CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Segment Reporting (Continued)

(Loss) income before income taxes:
United States . ................
Canada ......................
Netherlands...................
Australia . ....................

Consolidated Total . . ... .........

Depreciation and amortization:
United States . ................
Canada . .....................
Netherlands. .. ................
Australia . ............ ........

Consolidated Total . . . ...........

Property, plant and equipment, net of
accumulated depreciation:
United States . ................
Canada ......................
Netherlands. . .................
Australia . . ...................

Consolidated Total . ... ..........

Total assets:
United States . ................
Canada . .....................
Netherlands. . .................
Australia . ....... ... .. .. .. ...
Elimination of intersegment loans. . .
Elimination of intersegment
investments .................
Elimination of intersegment
receivables and other . .........

Consolidated Total . .. ...........

2002

2001 2000

$ (5,656,000)
169,000
261,000
(55,000)

$(19,821,000) $ 13,968,000

691,000 (49,000)
804,000 1,134,000
(40,000) (207,000)

$ (5,281,000)

$(18,366,000) $ 14,846,000

2002 2001 2000
$ 2,296,000 $ 8,709,000 $ 3,390,000
325,000 367,000 492,000
56,000 62,000 59,000
47,000 32,000 65,000
$ 2,724,000 $ 9,170,000 $ 4,006,000

2002

2001 2000

$ 5,357,000

$ 6,814,000 §$ 11,370,000

304,000 359,000 555,000
110,000 123,000 152,000
204,000 220,000 176,000

$ 5975000 $ 7,516,000 $ 12,253,000
2002 2001 2000

$ 44,402,000
7,799,000
6,282,000
1,449,000

(3,976,000)

(4,179,000)

(1,628,000)

$ 56,726,000 $ 67,960,000

8,575,000 8,646,000
6,117,000 6,158,000
1,634,000 1,532,000

(4,437,000)  (3,411,000)

(4,177,000)  (4,187,000)

(2,281,000)  (3,405,000)

$ 50,149,000

$ 62,157,000 § 73,293,000

Geographic revenues are based on the country from which customers are invoiced.
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13. Per Share Information

Basic (loss) earnings per share is computed by dividing net loss (earnings) by the weighted average
common shares outstanding for the period while diluted earnings per share also includes the dilutive
impact of stock options. Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share for fiscal May 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively, are calculated as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

2002 2001 2000
Weighted average shares outstanding . . ............ 5,148 5,173 5,140
Net (loss) earnings . .. ...... ... oo, $(3,390) $(12,084) $8,574
Basic (loss) earnings per share . . . .............. $ (0.66) $ (2.34) $ 1.67
Weighted average shares outstanding . . . ........... 5,148 5,173 5,140
Dilutive effect of options ...................... — — 2
Total ..o 5,148 5173 5,142
Net (loss) earnings . .. ... ... $(3,390) $(12,084) $8,574
Diluted (loss) earnings per share ............... $ (0.66) § (2.34) $ 1.67

14. Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

Gross Leoss Per Share
Fiscal Year Ended Revenues Profit™® Net Loss Basic Diluted
(In thousands, except per share data)

May 31, 2002

First Quarter ................ $ 28,505 S$11,155 $§ (799) $ (.15) $ (.15)
Second Quarter .............. 26,472 10,072 (658)  (13)  (13)
Third Quarter. . .............. 23,096 8,543 (1,156)  (.23)  (.23)
Fourth Quarter . .. ............ 25,874 9,547 777y (15  (15)

$103,947 $39317 $ (3,390)  (66)  (.66)

May 31, 2001

First Quarter ................ $ 30,230 $10,764 § (3.121) §$ (.60) $ (.60)
Second Quarter .............. 29,962 11,389 (1,728)  (.34)  (.34)
Third Quarter. . .............. 29,143 11,226 (2,325)  (45) (45)
Fourth Quarter . . ............. 29,187 10,701 (4910)  (95)  (.95)

$118,522 $44,080 $(12,084) (234) (2.34)

M Revenues less cost of revenues.

The net loss for the first quarter of fiscal 2001 includes a charge of $330,000 ($0.06 loss per share)
for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

15. Related Party Transaction

Pursuant to the employment agreement between the Company and Gary W. Ampulski, the
Company’s CEQ, in March 2001, the Company loaned Mr. Ampulski the principal sum of $139,503 to
enable him to repay the outstanding balance of a loan payable to his former employer. The loan is
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TAB PRODUCTS CO.
NOTES TO CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

15. Related Party Transaction (Continued)

secured by Mr. Ampulski’s home; it bears interest at the rate of 4.3% per annum and principal and
interest payments are made through payroll deductions on a semi-monthly basis ending on February 28,
2004. The balance of the loan was $123,660 and $136,402 as of May 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Interest income recorded in fiscal 2002 and 2001 was $5,605 and $1,486, respectively.

16. Asset Sales

Pursuant to an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Assets (the “Agreement”), by and between the
Company and Bell & Howell Document Management Products Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Bell & Howell Company (“Bell & Howell”), the Company sold its Field Services Group to Bell &
Howell on June 1, 1999. The price of the Purchased Assets, as defined in the Agreement, consists of an
initial cash payment of $11.2 million, the assumption of certain liabilities and obligations of the
Company valued at an estimated $4.3 million and up to an additional $3.5 million payable to the
Company for changes in certain accounts attributable to the Field Service Group. In connection with
the sale the Company recorded a pre-tax gain on sale of $13.8 million in the first quarter of fiscal year
2000.

On February 23, 2000, the Company sold its corporate headquarters buildings and the associated
land leases at Stanford Research Park to Eagle Ridge Partners, a real estate investment group. The
gross sales price was $18 million and resulted in a pre-tax gain of $12.9 million for the Company.

On February 16, 2001, the Company completed the sale of unutilized property and a
manufacturing facility for $2.9 million. In connection with the sale, the Company recorded a pre-tax
gain of $1.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2001.

17. Consolidation Activities

On June 22, 1999, the Company announced the consolidation of its paper manufacturing
operations to its main plant located in Mayville, Wisconsin. In September 1999, the Company closed its
paper manufacturing facility located in Turlock, California and transferred the inventory and equipment
to Mayville. As a result of the consolidation, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of approximately
$0.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2000.

18. Acquisitions

On May 25, 2000, the Company purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Docucon for
approximately $5.1 million, which was a combination of cash and assumed liabilities. Approximately
$4.5 million of the purchase price was allocated to goodwill with the remainder allocated to the gross
assets and liabilities acquired. The Docucon purchase gave the Company the capacity to convert
customers’ documents to digital format for desktop access. At May 31, 2001, the Company wrote-off
the remaining goodwill of $3.7 million from the acquisition due to its impairment.

19. Subsequent Event

As of July 29, 2002, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement with T Acquisition Co. and
T Acquisition L.P, affiliates of HS Morgan Limited Partnership, pursuant to which T Acquisition Co.
will merge with and into the Company. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, each share of the
Company’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive $5.85 per share in cash, or total




TAB PRODUCTS CO.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

19. Subsequent Event (Continued)

consideration of approximately $34 million, including outstanding stock options. The merger is expected
to close in the fourth calendar quarter of 2002. Consummation of the transaction is subject to the
approval of the Company’s stockholders, receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals, the buyer
entering into definitive financing agreements and certain other conditions. The Merger Agreement was
filed on July 29, 2002 as an exhibit to a Current Report on Form 8-K.
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SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions Uncollectible
Balance at Charged to Accounts Balance at
Allowance for Doubtful Beginning Costs and Charged to End of
Accounts Receivable of Period Expenses Reserve Period

Year ended May 31,2002 .................... $ 889,000 $ 19,000 § 41,000 $ 867,000
Year ended May 31,2001 . ....... ... ... ..... $1,095,000 $519,000  $725,000 $ 889,000
Year ended May 31,2000 . ................... $ 936,000 $452,000  $293,000  $1,095,000
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ConsoLipaTeED SerLecTED FinanciaL Bata

Five Years Ended May 31

2002 \ 2001 2000 1998 ) 1998

Revenues $103,947 $118,522 $130,568 $155,620 $165,943
(Loss) earnings before income taxes (5,281) (18,366) 14,846 592 4,580
Net (loss) earnings (3,390) (12,084) 8,574 162 2,435
Net (loss) earnings per share

Basic (0.66) (2.34) 1.67 0.03 0.48

Diluted {0.66) ‘ (2.34) 1.67 0.03 0.46
Book value per share 6.66 7.78 10.12 8.58 3.69
Dividends per share : - 010 - = 0.20 0.20 | 0.20
Current assets 37,353 46,762 51,258 51,354 53,778
Working capital 23,310 26,379 32,224 26,962 31,785
Net cash flows from operating activities 3,732 2,916) (13,264) 7,776 7,673
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 1,110 1,536 2,865 ‘ 5,052 4,927
Depreciation and amortization ‘ 2,724 9,170 4,006 4802 . 7,018
Long-term debt, non-current - : - - 3,953 7.391
Stockholders’ equity 34,103 40,503 52,680 43,128 44 897
Total assets 50,149 62,157 - 73298 75,328 77,488
Current ratio 27 2.3 2.7 21 24
(Loss) return on equity (9%) (26%) 18% 0% 5%

(Thousands of dollars, except per share and ratio data)
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TAB Products of Canada, Ltd.

York, Ontario, Canada

130 Sparks Avenue
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TAB Products (Europa) B. V.
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Amsterdam, Netherlands

TAB Products Pty Ltd.

Gladesville, New South Wales, Australia
Unit J/Enterprise Park

22-24 College Street

Gladesville, NSW 2111 Australia

TAB Sales Corp. International
St. Thomas, Virgin Islands -

[NDEPEMDENT AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP
180 N. Stetson Avenue
Chicago, IL 60601

GenNERAL GOUNSEL

McDermott, Will & Emery
227 West Monroe Street
Suite 4400

Chicago, IL 60606

Stocx TRANSFERS OR CHANGES

If you wish to transfer stock or change
your address, please contact our Transfer

Agent directly.
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